
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Planning 
Committee 
 
 

Agenda 
 
 

Monday, 1st December, 2025 
at 9.30 am 
 
 
 
in the 
 
 

Assembly Room 
Town Hall 
King’s Lynn 
 
Also available to view at: 
https://www.youtube.com/user/WestNorfolkBC  
 

https://www.youtube.com/user/WestNorfolkBC


 
 



 
 
King’s Court, Chapel Street, King’s Lynn, Norfolk, PE30 1EX 
Telephone: 01553 616200 
Fax: 01553 691663 
 

  
PLANNING COMMITTEE AGENDA 
 

 

 
 
Please ensure that all mobile phones are switched to silent 
 
 
DATE: Monday, 1st December, 2025 

 
VENUE: Assembly Room, Town Hall, Saturday Market Place, King's 

Lynn PE30 5DQ 
 

TIME: 9.30 am 
 

 

1.   APOLOGIES  

 To receive any apologies for absence and to note any substitutions. 
 

2.   MINUTES FROM THE PREVIOUS MEETING (Pages 6 - 15) 

 To confirm as a correct record the minutes from the meeting held on 3rd 
November 2025. 
 

3.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST (Page 16) 

 Please indicate if there are any interests which should be declared.  A 
declaration of an interest should indicate the nature of the interest (if not 
already declared on the Register of Interests) and the agenda item to which it 
relates.  If a disclosable pecuniary interest is declared, the Member should 
withdraw from the room whilst the matter is discussed. 
 
These declarations apply to all Members present, whether the Member is part 
of the meeting, attending to speak as a local Member on an item or simply 
observing the meeting from the public seating area. 
 
Councillor appointed representatives on the Internal Drainage Boards are 
noted. 
 



4.   URGENT BUSINESS UNDER STANDING ORDER 7  

 To consider any business, which by reason of special circumstances, the 
Chair proposes to accept, under Section 100(b)(4)(b) of the Local Government 
Act, 1972. 
 

5.   MEMBERS ATTENDING UNDER STANDING ORDER 34  

 Members wishing to speak pursuant to Standing Order 34 should inform the 
Chairman of their intention to do so and on what items they wish to be heard 
before a decision on that item is taken. 
 

6.   CHAIR'S CORRESPONDENCE  

 To receive any Chair’s correspondence. 
 

7.   RECEIPT OF CORRESPONDENCE RECEIVED AFTER THE PUBLICATION 
OF THE AGENDA  

 To receive the Correspondence received since the publication of the agenda. 
 

8.   INDEX OF APPLICATIONS (Page 17) 

 The Committee is asked to note the Index of Applications.  
 

9.   DECISION ON APPLICATIONS (Pages 18 - 53) 

 The Committee is asked to consider and determine the attached Schedules of 
Planning Applications submitted by the Assistant Director. 
 

10.   DELEGATED DECISIONS (Page 54) 

 To receive the Schedule of Planning Applications determined by the Executive 
Director. 
 

11.   UPDATE ON TREE MATTERS (Pages 55 - 58) 
 

To receive the update report on Tree Matters. 
 

 
To: Members of the Planning Committee 

 
 Councillors B Anota, T Barclay, R Blunt, F Bone (Chair), A Bubb, 

M de Whalley, T de Winton, P Devulapalli, S Everett, J Fry, S Lintern, 
C Rose, A Ryves, Mrs V Spikings (Vice-Chair) and M Storey 
 
 

 



Site Visit Arrangements 
 
When a decision for a site inspection is made, consideration of the application will be 
adjourned, the site visited, and the meeting reconvened on the same day for a 
decision to be made.  Timings for the site inspections will be announced at the 
meeting. 
 
If there are any site inspections arising from this meeting, these will be held on 
Thursday 4 December 2025 (time to be confirmed) and the meeting reconvened on 
the same day (time to be agreed). 
 
 
Please note: 
 
(1) At the discretion of the Chair, items may not necessarily be taken in the order 

in which they appear in the agenda. 
 
(2) An Agenda summarising Correspondence Received After the Publication of 

the Agenda received by 5.00 pm on the Wednesday before the meeting will 
be emailed.  Correspondence received after that time will not be specifically 
reported during the Meeting. 

 
(3) Public Speaking 
 

Please note that the deadline for registering to speak on the application is 
before 5.00 pm two working days before the meeting.  Please contact 
borough.planning@west-norfolk.gov.uk or call (01553) 616818 or 616234 to 
register.  Please note that you need to have made representations on an 
application to be able to register to speak. 

 
For Major Applications 
Two speakers may register under each category: to object to and in support of 
the application. A Parish or Town Council representative may also register to 
speak. Each speaker will be permitted to speak for five minutes 
 
For Minor Applications 
One Speaker may register under category: to object to and in support of the 
application. A Parish or Town Council representative may also register to 
speak. Each speaker will be permitted to speak for three minutes. 
 

 
 For Further information, please contact: 
 democratic.services@west-norfolk.gov.uk  

 
 

mailto:borough.planning@west-norfolk.gov.uk


 
292 

 

BOROUGH COUNCIL OF KING’S LYNN & WEST NORFOLK 
 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 

Minutes from the Meeting of the Planning Committee held on Monday, 3rd 
November, 2025 at 9.30 am in the Assembly Room, Town Hall, Saturday 

Market Place, King's Lynn PE30 5DQ 
 

PRESENT: Councillor F Bone (Chair) 
Councillors T Barclay, R Blunt, A Bubb, M de Whalley, T de Winton, 

P Devulapalli, S Everett, J Fry, S Lintern, C Rose, Mrs V Spikings and M Storey 
 
 

PC58:   APOLOGIES  
 

Apologies for absence had been received from Councillor Ryves. 
 

PC59:   MINUTES  
 

The minutes of the previous meetings held on 6 and 9 October 2025 
were agreed as a correct record and signed by the Chair. 
 

PC60:   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 

Councillor de Winton advised that he would withdraw from the 
Committee and speak under Standing Order 34 for application 9/1(a) – 
Brancaster, as he was Chair of the Parish Council. 
 
Councillor de Whalley advised that he would withdraw from the 
Committee and speak under Standing Order 34 for application 9/3(b) 
as he was acquainted with the applicant. 
 

PC61:   URGENT BUSINESS UNDER STANDING ORDER 7  
 

There was no urgent business under Standing Order 7. 
 

PC62:   MEMBERS ATTENDING UNDER STANDING ORDER 34  
 

Councillor de Winton  9/1(a)  Brancaster 
Councillor A Beales   9/3(a)  Castle Acre 
Councillor de Whalley  9/3(b)  East Winch 
Councillor S Squire   9/3(c)  Terrington St Clement 
 

PC63:   CHAIR'S CORRESPONDENCE  
 

The Chair reported that any correspondence received had been read 
and passed to the appropriate officer. 

6

Agenda Item 2



 
293 

 

 

PC64:   RECEIPT OF CORRESPONDENCE RECEIVED AFTER THE 
PUBLICATION OF THE AGENDA  
 

A copy of the correspondence received after the publication of the 
agenda, which had been previously circulated, was received. A copy of 
the agenda would be held for public inspection with a list of background 
papers. 
 

PC65:   DECISION ON APPLICATIONS  
 

The Committee considered schedules of applications for planning 
permission submitted by the Assistant Director for Planning and 
Environment (copies of the schedules were published with the 
agenda). Any changes to the schedules will be recorded in the 
minutes.  
 
RESOLVED: That the application be determined as set out at (i) – (vi) 
below, where appropriate to the conditions and reasons or grounds of 
refusal, set out in the schedules signed by the Chair. 
 
This item was moved to the first item on the agenda. 
 
(i) 25/01186/F 

Terrington St Clement: Owl Barn, Green Marsh Road:  New 
self-build single storey house utilising footprint, volume 
and structure of part demolished barn:  Mr Stephen 
Clarkson 
 

Click here to view a recording of this item on You Tube 
 

The case officer introduced the report and explained that the 
application was for a new self-build single storey house, utilising 
footprint, volume and structure of a part demolished barn along Green 
Marsh Road in the parish of Terrington St Clement. 

 
The application site approximately 0.22 ha in size, located within the 
countryside, approximately 870 m (straight line distance) north of the 
development boundary of Terrington St Clement.  Terrington St 
Clement was classified as a Tier 4 settlement, under the settlement 
hierarchy of LP01 of the Local Plan 2021 – 2040. 
 
The site had recent planning history which was material to the 
determination of the application.  The site had consent under Class Q 
to convert a barn on the site to a dwellinghouse.  However, it was 
discovered during a site visit that a large part of the former agricultural 
barn on the site had collapsed. Therefore, the permitted development 
right granted under 22/01019/PACU3 had fallen away and could no 
longer be carried out.  The development was therefore for a new 
dwellinghouse. 

7

https://youtu.be/FDCK8TEvIVU?t=248


 
294 

 

 
The application had been referred to the Committee for determination 
at the request of Councillor Squire. 
 
The Committee noted the key issues for consideration when 
determining the application, as set out in the report. 
 
In accordance with the adopted speaking protocol, Mr Leonard Appleby 
(supporting) addressed the Committee in relation to the application. 
 
In accordance with Standing Order 34, Councillor Squire addressed the 
Committee in support of the application. 
 
The Committee made reference to the planning history, noting previous 
Class Q consent for two dwellings on the site and the subsequent 
collapse of the barn due to structural issues. Members debated the 
difference in policy considerations between Class Q and the current 
application, with several Councillors highlighting the inconsistency in 
flood risk acceptance between the two routes. 
 
Several Members expressed support for the application, citing the 
precedent set by previous approvals, the lack of objections from 
statutory consultees, and the benefits of self-build. 
 
It was proposed by Councillor de Winton and seconded by Councillor 
de Whalley that the application should be approved on the grounds that 
significant weight had been given to the previous Class Q approval, 
and it met the need of self-build. 
 
The Democratic Services Officer then carried out a roll call on the 
proposal to approve the application, with conditions to be imposed 
following consultation with the Chair and Vice-Chair and, having been 
put to the vote was carried unanimously. 
 
RESOLVED: That the application be approved, contrary to 
recommendation, for the following reasons: 
 
Significant weight is given to the planning history of the site along with 
the provision of custom and self-build which together outweigh the 
policy objections to the proposal. 
 
(ii) 25/00865/F  

Brancaster: 3 Saw Mill Road: Variation of condition 2 and 
removal of condition 7 attached to planning permission 
24/01167/F: Extensions, alterations and remodelling of 
dwelling and proposed outbuilding: N Barley 
 

Click here to view a recording of this item on You Tube 
 
Councillor de Winton withdrew and addressed the Committee under 
Standing Order 34.  He took no part in the debate or decision. 

8

https://youtu.be/FDCK8TEvIVU?t=1911


 
295 

 

 
The case officer reminded the Committee that the application had been 
deferred from the 6th October Planning Committee in order to reassess 
the officer report for accurate consideration of the application under the 
s73A procedure.  The report had been updated to take into account 
those amendments. 
 
The application sought consent for a variation of condition 2 (approved 
plans) and removal of condition 7 (foundation design and construction 
methodology) through s73A of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990 in relation to planning permission 24/01167/F for ‘extensions, 
alterations & remodelling of dwelling and proposed outbuilding’. 
 
Brancaster was classified as a Key Rural Service Centre within the 
Settlement Hierarchy of the Core Strategy and Tier 4 (Key Rural 
Service Centre) under the new Local Plan. 
 
The application had been referred to the Committee for determination 
by the Planning Sifting Panel.  
 
The Committee noted the key issues for consideration when 
determining the application, as set out in the report.  
 
In accordance with the adopted public speaking protocol, Jordan Cribb 
(supporting) addressed the Committee in relation to the application. 
 
In accordance with Standing Order 34, Councillor de Winton addressed 
the Committee in relation to the application. 
 
Several Members of the Committee outlined their concerns about 
developers not adhering to conditions and the limitations of the 
planning system regarding retrospective applications. Members 
discussed the inability to penalise developers for such breaches under 
current law. 
 
Members sought clarification on whether 'bad behaviour' could be a 
material consideration and whether structural integrity concerns were a 
planning or building control matter. Officers confirmed that 
retrospective applications were permitted in law and that foundation 
issues were for building control. 
 
The Democratic Services Officer then carried out a roll call on the 
recommendation to approve the application and, having been put to the 
vote was carried (10 votes for, 1 against and 1 abstention). 
 
RESOLVED: That the application be approved as recommended. 
 
The Committee adjourned at 10.21 am and reconvened at 10.32 am. 
 
 
 

9



 
296 

 

(iii) 24/01275/FM 
Walpole:  Land E548887 N317051 NE of White House Farm, 
Frenchs Road, Walpole St Andrew:  Construction of a 
battery energy storage system and ancillary development:  
STP Green Limited 

 
Click here to view a recording of this item on You Tube 
 
The case officer introduced the report and explained that the 
application was for the installation of a Battery Energy Storage System 
(BESS) at White House Farm on two sites, both sides of French’s 
Road, approximately 300m to the west of Walpole Bank.  The larger / 
northern site (Parcel A) comprised approximately 3.5ha of agricultural 
land and the smaller / southern site (Parcel B) approximately 0.35 ha 
which was proposed to accommodate the associated transformers and 
telecommunications mast. 
 
Primary access to Parcel A would be off French’s Road to the east of 
White House Farm and a second / emergency access to the west of 
White House Lodge.  Access to Parcel B was again off French’s Road 
opposite White House Farm. 
 
The BESS would store excess electricity at times of low demand and 
then release it back into the grid when required at peak times.   It would 
be rated at up to 200MW and would therefore be capable of serving the 
needs of between 200,000 – 400,000 homes for one hour if required. 
 
An operational period of thirty (30) years was sought by the applicants. 
 
The sites were located outside of the development boundary for 
Walpole St Andrew / Walpole St Peter / Walpole Marsh and was 
therefore in an area classed as ‘countryside’.  The locality was 
dominated by Walpole Substation and its associated infrastructure 
including pylons and overhead cabling plus other energy related 
development.  French’s Road comprised a mix of sporadic residential 
properties and agricultural buildings on the northern frontage. 
 
The sites were arable and grass land respectively, classed as grade 2 
agricultural land.  Parcel A was located mostly in Flood Zone 1, and 
Parcel B in Flood Zone 2 of EA mapping but both fell within the Tidal 
Hazard Mapping Zone.  There was significant apparatus associated 
with National Grid in the vicinity of the site. 
 
The BESS was considered to be ‘associated infrastructure’ in relation 
to the management and use of energy and the National commitment to 
carbon neutrality by 2050.  It should therefore be mainly considered in 
the context of Policy LP24 of the Local Plan accordingly. 
 
The application had been referred to the Committee for determination 
as the views of the Parish Council were contrary to the officer 
recommendation and by the Planning Sifting Panel.  

10

https://youtu.be/FDCK8TEvIVU?t=3719


 
297 

 

 
The Committee noted the key issues for consideration when 
determining the application, as set out in the report.  
 
In accordance with the adopted public speaking protocol, Mr Thistleton 
(objecting) and Mr John Simkin (supporting) addressed the Committee 
in relation to the application. 
 
Councillor Blunt (Ward Member) agreed with the comments made by 
the objector in relation to the siting of the BESS near homes, citing 
industrialisation of the area and potential for the facility to be located 
further from residences.  
 
Several Committee Members echoed concerns about residential 
amenity, noise, and visual impact. 
 
The Committee also questioned the adequacy of landscaping, noise 
mitigation, fire safety, and flood risk measures. Officers confirmed that 
conditions would require robust landscaping with mature trees, 
acoustic fencing, and a battery safety management plan reviewed in 
consultation with the fire service. 
 
Councillor Lintern proposed that Conditions 5 and 6 be amended to 
include a requirement for mature evergreen planting and the retention 
of the landscaping for the lifetime of the development.  This was 
seconded by Councillor Mrs Spikings and agreed by the Committee. 
 
Councillor Lintern also proposed that Condition 23 should be amended 
to include a mechanism and timeframe for reviewing the fire safety 
management plan (5 years, 7 years and 10 years from the 
commencement of use and thereafter every 5 years), seconded by 
Councillor Spikings and agreed by the Committee. 
 
The Democratic Services Officer then carried out a roll call on the 
recommendation to approve the application subject to amendments to 
conditions, including requirements for mature evergreen planting, a 
mechanism and timeframe for reviewing the fire safety management 
plan (5 years, 7 years and 10 years from the commencement of use 
and thereafter every 5 years), and retention of landscaping for the 
lifetime of the development and, after having been put to the vote was 
carried (10 votes for, 2 votes against and 1 abstention).  
 
RESOLVED: That the application be approved as recommended, 
subject to amendments to conditions, including requirements for 
mature evergreen planting, a mechanism and timeframe for reviewing 
the fire safety management plan, and retention of landscaping for the 
lifetime of the development. 
 
The Committee adjourned at 11.35 am and reconvened at 11.45 am. 
 
 

11



 
298 

 

 
(iv) 25/01297/F 

Castle Acre:  Ran Revir, Bailey Street:  Self-build and part 
retrospective:  Erection of replacement dwelling (part 
retrospective) and detached garage:  Mr M Green 
 

Click here to view a recording of this item on You Tube 
 
The case officer introduced the report and explained that the proposal 
was a part retrospective application for a self-build dwelling house and 
detached garage at Ran Revir, Bailey Street, Castle Acre. 
 
The site was approximately 0.11ha in size comprising residential 
garden land with the remains of a recently demolished detached 
bungalow and foundations of the replacement dwelling to the north of 
the plot. 
 
The site was within Castle Acre’s Neighbourhood Plan area (adopted in 
February 2022), development boundary identified within the Local Plan 
2021-2040, and Conservation Area.  The site was the last dwelling on 
the southern edge of Castle Acre along Bailey Street.  The vehicular 
access to the site was opposite the junction of Blind Lane with Bailey 
Street. 
 
Planning permission under reference 24/00256/F was refused in 
December 2024 for the same development due to an inadequate flood 
risk assessment set out in paragraph 20 and 21 of the PPG and impact 
of the proposal to the loss of the flood plain storage.  This application 
sought to address the reason for refusal for a new dwelling on the site. 
 
The application had been referred to the Committee for determination 
by the Planning Sifting Panel. 
 
The Committee noted the key issues for consideration when 
determining the application, as set out in the report.  
 
In accordance with the adopted public speaking protocol, Hazel Fenner 
(objecting) addressed the Committee in relation to the application. 
 
In accordance with Standing Order 34, Councillor Beales addressed 
the Committee. 
 
In response to comments raised, the case officer explained the flood 
risk assessment, compensatory floodplain storage proposals, and the 
Environment Agency's acceptance of the revised scheme.  
 
Committee Members asked for reassurance that the measures would 
adequately protect neighbouring properties and the road.  The case 
officer advised that the Environment Agency considered the proposal 
acceptable and that it would be betterment for the site and surrounding 
neighbours. 

12

https://youtu.be/FDCK8TEvIVU?t=8034


 
299 

 

 
Councillor Lintern proposed the need for pre-commencement 
implementation of mitigation measures, and the potential for ongoing 
monitoring. This was seconded by Councillor Spikings and agreed by 
the Committee to strengthen condition 6 to require flood storage to be 
in place before any further development. 
 
The Democratic Services Officer then carried out a roll call on the 
recommendation to approve the application subject to Condition 6 
being amended to require flood storage to be in place before further 
development and, after having been put to the vote was carried (7 
votes for, 3 votes against and 3 abstentions). 
 
RESOLVED: That the application be approved, subject to the 
amendment of condition 6 to require flood storage be in place before 
any further development took place. 
 
As the Committee had been nearly sitting for three hours, it was agreed 
to continue to sit for a further one hour. 
 
(v) 25/00590/O 
 East Winch:  Braemore, Lynn Road:  Outline application 

with some matters reserved for the construction of 5 new 
self / custom build sustainable homes within a site off the 
A47 at East Winch:  Mr Jasbir Singh Anota 

 
Click here to view a recording of this item on You Tube 
 
Councillor de Whalley withdrew and addressed the Committee under 
Standing Order 34.  He took no part in the debate or decision. 
 
The case officer introduced the report and explained that the 
application sought outline planning consent with access, layout and 
scale.  The appearance and landscaping would be determined as part 
of a reserved matters application. 
 
The proposed development was for five custom and self-build 
dwellings with associated detached garages and driveways, and 
private gardens.  Access was proposed via a shared single access 
onto the A47.  The site was currently in the form of grassland. 
 
The application site was approximately 0.4ha in size and lies to the 
north of the A47, in the village of East Winch.  East Winch was 
classified as a Rural Village in the adopted Local Plan.  The site was 
located outside of the development boundary as designated on the 
Planning Policies Map. 
 
The application had been referred to the Committee for determination 
as the applicant was related to Councillor Anota. 
 

13

https://youtu.be/FDCK8TEvIVU?t=10603


 
300 

 

The Committee noted the key issues for consideration when 
determining the application, as set out in the report. 
 
The case officer referred to the correspondence received after the 
publication of the agenda and advised that two further emails had been 
received from the applicant.  She referred to the objection from 
National Highways and explained the requirement to refer the 
application to the Secretary of State for Transport should the 
Committee propose to grant approval for the application contrary to 
their advice. 
 
In accordance with the adopted public speaking protocol, Mr Peter 
Gidney (supporting) addressed the Committee in relation to the 
application. 
 
In accordance with Standing Order 34, Councillor de Whalley 
addressed the Committee in support of the application. 
 
In response to comments raised by the speakers, the case officer 
highlighted the fundamental objections from National Highways 
regarding direct access onto the A47, as well as local plan policies 
restricting such development. 
 
Members debated whether the issues were insurmountable, with some 
suggesting the application was incomplete and required further work. 
 
Councillor de Winton proposed that the application should be deferred 
for three months to allow the applicant additional time to address 
highways and noise concerns.  The proposal to defer the application 
was seconded by Councillor Everett. 
 
The Democratic Services Officer carried out a roll call on the proposal 
to defer the application and, after having been put to the vote, was 
carried (8 votes for and 4 votes against). 
 
RESOLVED: That the application be deferred for three months. 
 
(vi) 25/01308/F 

 Upwell:  The Old Barn, 71 School Road and The Stables, 
71A School Road:  Retrospective application for external 
cladding to building façade:  Ms Caroline Parsons 

 
Click here to view a recording of this item on You Tube 
 
The application sought retrospective full planning permission for 
external cladding to properties Old Barn, 71 School Road, and The 
Stables, 71A School Road, under section 73A of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990. 
 
The site accommodated two semi-detached, two storey dwellings, The 
Old Barn (71 School Road) and The Stables (71A School Road) and 

14

https://youtu.be/FDCK8TEvIVU?t=12168


 
301 

 

was located within the Upwell Conservation Area.  The properties were 
identified as important unlisted (non-designated) heritage assets. 
 
The application had been referred to the Committee for determination 
at the request of Councillor Spikings. 
 
The Committee noted the key issues for consideration when 
determining the application, as set out in the report. 
 
In accordance with the adopted public speaking protocol, Holly Wilkin 
(supporting) addressed the Committee in relation to the application. 
 
Members discussed the prevalence of varied finishes in the area, the 
lack of listed buildings, and the balance between conservation and 
tenant wellbeing. 
 
Councillor Mrs Spikings proposed that the application be approved on 
the grounds that the cladding did not demonstrably harm the 
conservation area.  This was seconded by Councillor Storey. 
 
The Democratic Services Officer then carried out a roll call on the 
proposal to approve the application and, after having been put to the 
vote was carried (11 votes for and 2 votes against). 
 
RESOLVED: That the application be approved, contrary to 
recommendation, for the following planning reasons: 
 
Given the varied materials used in the area, the proposed cladding and 
associated benefits preserved the conservation area. 
 

PC66:   DELEGATED DECISIONS  
 

The Committee received schedules relating to the above. 
 
RESOLVED: That the reports be noted. 
 

 
The meeting closed at 1.14 pm 
 

 

15



 

 

            START 
 

          YES ←    → NO 

                      

                                                             YES ↙           ↓ NO 

  

                                                                                                                                            

 YES ←  

                                ↓ NO 

                       

           YES ←       

  

 ↓ NO 

                                                           ↓ YES                     ↓NO                                   

                

                                                           

                                                                                                YES   ↙               ↓ NO 

                                                                      

 YES ←   

      

  NO ← 

 

                                                                                                                         ↙ 

                                                                                        NO TO BOTH           YES TO ONE ↓ 

  

 

Does the matter directly 

relate to one of your DPIs?  

DECLARING AN INTEREST AND MANAGING 

ANY CONFLICTS FLOWCHART 

Does the matter directly 

relate to the finances or 

wellbeing of one of your ERIs? 
Declare the interest. You have 

a conflict and cannot act or 

remain in the meeting *  
Declare the interest. You have 

a conflict and cannot act or 

remain in the meeting *  

 

Does it directly relate to the 

finances or wellbeing of you, 

a relative or a close associate? 
Declare the interest. You have 

a conflict and cannot act or 

remain in the meeting * 

Does it affect the finances or 

wellbeing of you, a relative, a 

close associate or one of my 

ERIs? 

Declare the interest. Are you 

or they affected to a greater 

extent than most people? And 

would  a reasonable person 

think you are biased because 

of the interest?  

Does it relate to a Council 

Company or outside body to 

which you are appointed by 

the Council? 

* without a dispensation 
 
Glossary: 
DPI: Disclosable Pecuniary 
Interest 
ERI: Extended Registrable 
Interest 

 

 

 

You have a conflict and 

cannot act or remain in 

the meeting * 

Take part 

as normal 

Does another interest make 

you that feel you cannot act 

in a fair, objective or open 

manner? Would a 

reasonable person knowing 

the same interest think you  

could not act in a fair, 

objective or open manner? 

Declare the 

interest. Do you, or 

would a reasonable 

person think there 

are competing 

interests between 

the Council and the 

company/outside 

body?  

Other actions to mitigate 
against identified conflicts: 
1. Don’t read the papers  
2. Tell relevant officers 
3. Ask to be removed from any 
email recipient chain/group 

 
 

You can remain the meeting if the Chair 

agrees, for you to speak in your external 

capacity only. Do not vote. 

You can take part in discussions but make 

clear which capacity you are speaking in. 

Do not vote.  

You have a 

conflict. Declare 

the interest. Do 

not participate and 

do not vote. 

Declare the interest for 

the sake of openness 

and transparency. Then 

take part as normal. 

16

Agenda Item 3



Planning Committee  
01 December 2025 

    

INDEX OF APPLICATIONS TO BE DETERMINED 
BY THE PLANNING COMMITTEE AT THE MEETING 

TO BE HELD ON MONDAY 1 DECEMBER 2025 
 

 

Item 
No. 

 

Application No. 

Location and Description of Site 
Development 

 

PARISH Recommendation Page 
No. 

OTHER APPLICATIONS/APPLICATIONS REQUIRING REFERENCE TO THE COMMITTEE  
 

     

9/1 (a) 25/01520/F 
11 Walkers Close  Creake Road  
Burnham Market  PE31 8EP 
SELF-BUILD Demolition of existing semi-
detached dwelling. Erection of new four 
bedroom two storey dwelling house (use 
class C3) attached to neighbouring property. 
Erection of a single storey ancillary garage 
with associated landscaping and boundary 
treatment. 
 

BURNHAM 
MARKET 

APPROVE 18 

     

9/2 (b) 25/00060/O 
Land N of 4 Walton Road Marshland St 
James Norfolk PE14 8DP 
OUTLINE APPLICATION - 9 Self Build 
Dwellings. 
 

MARSHLAND ST 
JAMES 

REFUSAL 41 

 

 

17

Agenda Item 8



Gardens

St

Close

Allotment

Walkers

Hall

13

18

House

Church

The Hollies

Guardian

Ethelbert's

(remains of)

C
R

E
A

K
E

 R
O

A
D

Scale:

25/01520/F

11 Walkers Close Creake Road Burnham Market King's Lynn Norfolk PE31 8EP

Organisation
Department
Comments

Date

MSA Number

Department
 

BCKLWN

19/11/2025

© Crown copyright and database rights 2025
Ordnance Survey AC0000819234

0 0.025 0.050.0125
KM

Legend

0100024314

18

Agenda Item 9



Gardens

7

9

4

1

8

6

5

2

St
Close

ESS

9.5m

Hall

Tay

Cott

Yard

16

12

14

1
a

13

20

18

House

Oaklea

K
ei

b
il

G
le

n
c

o
e

C
o

tt
ag

e

11

1
b

Roadside

Holbeck

C
R

E
A

K
E

 R
O

A
D

Kestrels

Redlands

Tearoha

BEACON HILL

B
A

C
K

 L
A

N
E

ST ETHELBERTS CL

Church

H
ill

s
id

e

B
ee

ch
w

o
o

d

Silverdene

Fairveiw

The Hollies

Guardian

C
o

n
st

a
n

za

Saltwater

Batterbys

Endymion
A

rau
caria

Moodie

1

5

1

7

1

4

8

7

4

13

9

Allotment

Walkers

Glen

17

Corner

C
am

b
er

s

Spring

S
u

tt
o

n Stonegate

Windfall

CAMBERS LANE

S
ilo

Highfield

Claremont
Ethelbert's

Chiswick

Bungalow

C
LO

SE
21

Fairview

Flint Cott

West Fields

S
o

u
th

 C
o

tt

(remains of)

N
o

rth
 C

o
tt

Oakwood CottageEastcote

Cottage

House

7

ESS

6

House

Scale:

25/01520/F

11 Walkers Close Creake Road Burnham Market King's Lynn Norfolk PE31 8EP

Organisation
Department
Comments

Date

MSA Number

Department
 

BCKLWN

19/11/2025

© Crown copyright and database rights 2025
Ordnance Survey AC0000819234

0 0.055 0.110.0275
KM

Legend

0100024314

19



AGENDA ITEM NO: 9/1 (a) 
 

Planning Committee 
1 December 2025 

25/01520/F 

 

Parish: 
 

Burnham Market 

 

Proposal: 
 

SELF-BUILD Demolition of existing semi-detached dwellinghouse 
and erection of two-storey dwellinghouse (use class C3) attached to 
neighbouring property with associated landscaping and boundary 
treatment 

Location: 
 

11 Walkers Close  Creake Road  Burnham Market  King's Lynn 
Norfolk PE31 8EP 

Applicant: 
 

Mrs Naomi Clark 

Case  No: 
 

25/01520/F  (Full Application) 

Case Officer: Jack Ibbotson 
 

Date for Determination: 
14 November 2025  

Extension of Time Expiry Date: 
5 December 2025  
 

 

Reason for Referral to Planning Committee – Call in – Councillor Sam Sandell 
  
 

 

Neighbourhood Plan:   Yes 
 

 

 
Case Summary 
 
This application seeks full planning permission for the demolition and subsequent 
replacement of a semi-detached dwellinghouse at 11 Walkers Close, Creake Road, 
Burnham Market. The proposed dwelling would be a self-build and custom dwelling.  
 
The proposal would see the replacement being constructed on an extended footprint with a 
wider two storey element with front, side and rear single storey extensions. 
 
The proposal has been amended to remove a proposed garage to the front of the dwelling.   
 
Key Issues 
 
Principle of development 
Demolition  
Form and character and impact on National Landscape 
Impact on neighbour amenity 
Highway safety 
Any other matters requiring consideration prior to the determination of the application  
Human Rights Act and Public Sector Equality Duty 
 
Recommendation 
 
APPROVE  
 

 
 

20



Planning Committee 
1 December 2025 

25/01520/F 

 

THE APPLICATION 
 
The site is an interwar period ex-local authority semi-detached house located to the south of 
the settlement of Burnham Market in a linear street of similar era and scale dwellings. The 
dwelling is a two-storey modest three bedroom dwelling, set in a large plot. There is an 
existing vehicular access to a parking area and pre-fabricated garage located to the side of 
the dwelling.  
 
The house has a single storey rear offshoot and standalone outhouse which is adjoined to 
the mirrored adjoining dwelling. The existing house is a rendered external finish with a 
footprint of approximately 66m2 when including the external store, and gross internal floor 
area (GIA) of approximately 83m2 over two storeys. The existing dwelling is 7.8m tall to 
ridge, and 5.1m to eaves. It is 5.9m wide and 10.6m deep.  
 
Planning permission is sought for the erection of a replacement dwelling following the 
demolition of the existing semi-detached house, prefabricated garage, and outbuildings. 
 
The proposed dwelling would connect to the neighbouring dwelling in the same form and 
position as the current house with eaves and ridge at the same level.  
 
The difference would be in the increase in the footprint of the house through the addition of a 
wider two storey side projection along with a part front and side flat roof extension and a rear 
projection with pitched roof. These would be single storey. The proposal would see the foot 
print of the house (including store) increase from approximately 66m2 to approximately 
112m2. The proposed dwelling would have a GIA of 160m2, an increase of approximately 
92% .  
 
The new dwelling would be in total a maximum of 12m wide, and 13.3m deep including the 
single storey projection to the rear. The roof would be 7.8m to ridge, and 5.1m to eaves, both 
the same as the original dwelling.  
 
The two-storey extension element would follow the front and rear building line, whilst the 
single storey elements would project past the existing front, side and rear building lines.  
 
The width of the dwelling would increase at two storeys from 5.9m to 10.2m and the total 
width would be 12.0m. The single storey side element would be set in from the boundary by 
1.0m. The rear single storey projection would be set in from the boundary with 12 Walker 
Close by 5.3m and 3.1m to the boundary with 10 Walkers Close.  
 
The proposed single storey rear projection would project 5.2m behind the main two storey 
rear elevation. This would be similar to the existing layout of the current house, although a 
longer projection to the rear (1.5m more than existing).  
 
The roof would have a hipped profile which would be stepped back and down where the 
extension projects further to the side than the existing house.  
 
Materials include white render, plain tiles aluminium windows, facia and rainwater goods. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

21



Planning Committee 
1 December 2025 

25/01520/F 

 

SUPPORTING CASE 
 
The Agent has submitted the following supporting statement:   
 
In the following statement we have addressed directly the objections received from the 
elderly residents of the neighbouring property, their family and the parish council.  
 
Structural Safety and Stability  
 
Objectors highlight that No. 11 and No. 12 share a single-skin, load-bearing party wall that 
supports structural beams within No. 12. Demolition of No. 11 could therefore compromise 
the stability of its adjoining neighbour, with additional risk to shared chimneys and drainage. 
They call for an independent structural survey before any work proceeds.  
 
Response: Legal protections under the Party Wall Act and Section 215 (Untidy Sites) ensure 
the safeguarding of performance, thermal integrity, waterproofing, and structural stability of 
adjoining dwellings both during and after construction. Adjoining owners are protected under 
the law by the Party Wall Act and Section 215, which provide appropriate safeguards to 
ensure that all works are carried out in a controlled and compliant manner. An independent 
structural report, prepared by a qualified structural engineer, recommends demolition and 
reconstruction as the preferred option.  
 
Health, Safety, and Wellbeing  
 
Elderly residents at No. 12 fear prolonged noise, vibration, and dust from demolition and 
rebuilding would severely affect their health and recovery, causing stress, anxiety, and sleep 
loss. Concerns also include dust and possible asbestos exposure, making their home 
environment unsafe. The construction period for a new dwelling would be under 12 months 
for a straightforward project of this nature, with the heavy construction works lasting 
approximately six months. A retention and extension strategy would likely cause more 
disturbance and increase the duration of the works. The Borough Council of King’s Lynn and 
West Norfolk’s Community Safety and Neighbourhood Nuisance Officer, Suzi Pimlott, has 
been consulted and has raised no objections to the proposals.  
 
Loss of Light and Visual Impact  
 
The proposed double garage positioned close to No. 12’s front lounge window, would 
overshadow the room, reduce natural light, and appear visually intrusive. Objectors argue 
this would harm residential amenity and be out of keeping with the surrounding semi-rural 
character. Response: The garage has been removed from the application.  
 
Accessibility and Highway Safety  
 
Construction traffic and materials could block the public footpath directly outside No. 12, 
which elderly occupants depend on for safe access to local services. Combined with major 
nearby development, the works are seen as likely to create unsafe conditions for both 
pedestrians and vehicles.  
 
Response: Norfolk County Council has been consulted. With the exception of a minor 
adjustment to the parking layout, which has been incorporated, the proposals are supported. 
The timing of the construction of an adjacent development is not within our control; however, 
we would expect that pedestrian access is maintained at all times in line with the Safety at 
Street Works and Road Works – A Code of Practice (“The Red Book”).  
 

22



Planning Committee 
1 December 2025 

25/01520/F 

 

Unnecessary Demolition.  
 
Neighbours and the Parish Council argue that independent inspection has found no 
evidence of structural instability at No. 11, so demolition is unjustified. They believe 
refurbishment, rather than full demolition, would avoid unnecessary risk and disruption to 
adjoining properties.  
 
Response: The demolition strategy has been adopted to ensure that the completed building 
will perform in accordance with both modern and future standards. A detailed statement has 
been provided outlining the retrofit versus rebuild case; please read the statement “Thomas 
Faire Architects – LP06 Climate Change Policy Context.” Given that the Borough Council of 
King’s Lynn and West Norfolk declared a climate emergency in 2021, we would have 
expected the Council to take steps to support the construction industry in doing its part to 
achieve Net Zero operational energy, combined with on-site renewables as proposed in this 
application. Further to this the current building is unsafe and demolition has been 
recommended.  
 
Concluding Statement  
 
We will ensure that the builders are briefed to minimise any disruption to the neighbouring 
properties during construction and will recommend that the builders engage with schemes 
such as considerate contractors. 
 
 
PLANNING HISTORY 
 
None relevant.  
 
 
RESPONSE TO CONSULTATION 
 
Parish Council: OBJECTION on the following grounds: 
 
1. Risk to the Adjoining Property 
The property is one half of a semi-detached pair. The party wall is a 9-inch single skin wall, 
which provides minimal structural separation. Demolishing one half of the building would 
pose a significant risk of damage to the neighbouring house (No. 12). 
 
An independent survey commissioned by the neighbours found no evidence of structural 
instability, indicating there is no structural necessity for demolition. 
 
2. Shared Chimney and Drainage 
The houses share a chimney stack and a drainage system serving four properties. 
 
These shared features create a high risk of disruption or damage during demolition and 
reconstruction. No detailed plan has been provided to show how these risks would be safely 
managed. 
 
3. Construction Duration and Disruption 
The proposed works are expected to take up to three years. Such a prolonged construction 
period would cause sustained noise, dust, vibration, and general disturbance to 
neighbouring properties. 
 

23



Planning Committee 
1 December 2025 

25/01520/F 

 

The Eastern Daily Press (1 October) reported that “excessive construction disruption” has 
been accepted in other planning cases as a valid reason for refusal. 
 
A three-year construction period would therefore be unreasonable and highly disruptive, 
particularly for elderly residents nearby. 
 
4. Health and Wellbeing 
The combined effect of structural risk, prolonged construction, and disturbance would have a 
significant impact on the health and wellbeing of elderly neighbours. 
 
The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) recognises the importance of creating 
safe, inclusive, and healthy places: 
 
Paragraph 92: “Aim to achieve healthy, inclusive and safe places which... enable and 
support healthy lifestyles, especially where this would address identified local health and 
well-being needs.” 
 
Paragraph 130(f): “Create places that are safe, inclusive and accessible and which promote 
health and well-being, with a high standard of amenity for existing and future users.” 
 
The likely impact on the health, safety, and quality of life of neighbouring residents is 
therefore a material planning consideration. 
 
5. Conclusion 
The Parish Council considers this development unsafe, unnecessary, and excessively 
disruptive. It would pose risks to the adjoining property, shared services, and the wellbeing 
of vulnerable residents. 
 
For these reasons, the Parish Council strongly recommends that this application be refused 
 
The PC would also like to comment the unprecedented level of public objection and concern 
to this - 22 members of public in physical attendance to voice concerns. 
 
CSNN: NO OBJECTION subject to conditions 
 
As this is for a single dwelling in an existing residential area, CSNN have no formal grounds 
to object to the replacement dwelling. We have to consider that if the house was to have 
internal refurbishment, this could consist of demolition of internal walls, etc. Likewise houses 
can be reroofed or underpinned etc, or have extensions added. 
 
However, as this application also includes the demolition of an entire attached (semi-
detached) dwelling, there are clearly obvious concerns over the impact on residential 
amenity for the occupiers of the attached dwelling. 
 
There are civil legislation elements to this, such as the Party Wall etc. Act 1996, which are 
there to help the adjacent residents which should be followed and may include the need for 
structural survey of neighbouring property.   
 
The option to retain the building may offer less impact on neighbours and is consider worth 
exploring further. 
 
CSNN’s role is to ensure that all possible steps to provide as much mitigation as possible, in 
terms of noise, vibration and dust impacts, are required through the planning process. At all 
times Best Practicable Means (BPM) [Section 72 of the Control of Pollution Act 1974 & Part 

24



Planning Committee 
1 December 2025 

25/01520/F 

 

III of the Environmental Protection Act 1990] will be expected, however enhanced protection 
of the adjacent attached neighbours should be required via the planning process.  
 
Conditions requested cover the following issues –  
 
Construction hours, Construction Management Plan, on-site parking, foul water drainage, 
and amended details of air source heat pump position.   
 
Local Highway Authority: NO OBJECTION subject to conditions 
 
In regard to the updated layout, in highway terms there would be no issues with the revised 
proposals as suitable onsite parking and turning is retained. 
 
A condition is recommended to ensure prior to the first occupation of the development the 
proposed access, on-site car parking and turning area shall be laid out, demarcated, 
levelled, surfaced and drained in accordance with the approved plan and retained thereafter 
available for that specific use. 
 
Arboriculturist – No objection subject to conditions: 
 
The proposal involves the demolition of one half of an existing semi-detached pair and the 
erection of a new two-storey four-bedroom dwelling with a single-storey garage to the front. 
The submitted Design Statement indicates that a landscaped front garden will be provided, 
including planted boundary treatments along the frontage of the new garage, which would 
help to soften the visual impact of on-plot parking. The drawings also suggest that existing 
trees and hedges to the rear of the property are to be retained. 
 
While the development will result in further interruption to the once continuous green 
frontage along Creake Road, it would be desirable to retain or reinstate a green front 
boundary as far as practicable to maintain as much as possible the verdant character of the 
road. Retention of existing boundary vegetation and the inclusion of meaningful new planting 
around the periphery of the site will help integrate the new dwelling within the setting. 
 
The following conditions are recommended requiring: 
 
1. The submission and approval of a detailed hard and soft landscaping scheme (including 

boundary treatments and planting details); and 
2. A tree and hedge protection scheme to safeguard existing vegetation during demolition 

and construction. 
 
Environmental Quality – Contamination - No Objection: 
 
The applicant has provided a screening assessment indicating no known contamination 
other than potential for asbestos containing materials to be present. 
 
We have reviewed our files and the site is on land first seen developed in aerial photography 
from the 1940s. The surrounding landscape is largely residential. 
 
Due to the age of the property on site there is the potential for asbestos containing materials 
to be present. With this in mind, we recommend the following informative. 
 
The proposed development will include the refurbishment/replacement of the existing 
building which could contain asbestos materials. The Control of Asbestos Regulations 2012 
(CAR 2012) require that suitable and sufficient assessment is carried out as to whether 

25



Planning Committee 
1 December 2025 

25/01520/F 

 

asbestos is or is liable to be present before demolition or other work is carried out. CAR 
2012 requires that a suitable written plan of work must be prepared before any work is 
carried out and the work must be carried out in accordance with that plan. If asbestos is not 
managed appropriately then the site may require a detailed site investigation and could 
become contaminated land as defined in Part 2A of the Environmental Protection Act 1990. 
 
Historic Environment Services – No Objection: 
 
No known archaeological implications.  
 
 
REPRESENTATIONS 
 
FOUR HUNDRED AND FORTY-SEVEN OBJECTIONS were received.  
 
ONE NEUTRAL comment was received.  
 
The objections received raised a variety of issues which can be broadly summarised as 
follows:  
 

• The elderly neighbours should not have their amenity harmed, especially in their later 
years, through the noise and disturbance of the proposed demolition and building 
works. 

• The disturbance would harm the health of the neighbouring residents. 

• Access along the public footway could be blocked by construction traffic.   

• The proposed changes are not required. 

• Burnham Market is already over developed and has too many second homes/holiday 
homes. 

• The demolition of the existing house is not justified as the original house is not 
considered to be unsound. Existing should be renovated.  

• The demolition would result in contamination from asbestos.  

• The demolition works could affect the structure of the neighbouring property.  

• The property should be left for local people.  

• The proposal is out of character with the area and landscape and is also 
overdevelopment.  

• Priority should be given to affordable homes.   

• Local Planning should put community cohesion first. 

• The construction would take a long period of time causing harm. 

• The council should seek to protect existing buildings to protect the environment and 
retain embedded carbon.  

• If it is clear that it's safer to be demolished, it should be replaced with a 'like for like' 
house. 

• The property could have bats present.  

• Unless something is done soon to stop this gentrification of our beautiful Norfolk 
villages they will all end up as ghost towns in the winter. 

• Walkers Close is a narrow residential road with limited access, meaning construction 
vehicles, materials, and deliveries would cause blockages, parking difficulties, and 
safety concerns for residents and pedestrians. 

• The existing semi-detached property contributes to a balanced pair of dwellings, 
typical of the area's post-war vernacular. Demolishing it and replacing it with a 
significantly altered or larger design would destroy the visual symmetry of the pair, 
resulting in an unbalanced and incongruous appearance.  

• The development is based on profit. 

26



Planning Committee 
1 December 2025 

25/01520/F 

 

• The neighbours deserve protection on the basis of their standing in the village and the 
contribution they have made.  

• It is not moral and lacks common decency.   

• The council don’t want 2nd homeowners but will grab double council tax.  

• The development should wait until the neighbouring property is vacant. 

• Internal migration is putting pressure on places like Burnham Market. 

• An alternative site would be more appropriate.  

• The council should not even consider this application. 

• As a former right to buy property, when it was sold on there should have been a 
'Covenant' that stated that any purchaser should be a Norfolk resident within a stated 
amount of miles from Burnham Market.  

• It seems the only advantage of demolition would be the avoidance of VAT on the 
reconstruction. 

 
ONE NEUTRAL comment was received setting out:  
 

• None of the app documents are available to view. 

• Cordially suggest Development Control extend the statutory consultation period so that 
comments can be made based on the substance of the app, not just emotional knee 
jerk reactions which are not based on material planning considerations. 

 
 
KING’S LYNN AND WEST NORFOLK LOCAL PLAN 2021-2040 
 
LP01 - Spatial Strategy and Settlement Hierarchy Policy (Strategic Policy) 
 
LP02 - Residential Development on Windfall Sites (Strategic Policy) 
 
LP03 - Neighbourhood Plans (Strategic Policy) 
 
LP04 - Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development Policy (Strategic Policy) 
 
LP06 - Climate Change (Strategic Policy) 
 
LP13 - Transportation (Strategic Policy) 
 
LP14 - Parking Provision in New Development 
 
LP16 - Norfolk Coast National Landscape (Strategic Policy) 
 
LP18 - Design & Sustainable Development (Strategic Policy) 
 
LP19 - Environmental Assets - Green Infrastructure, Landscape Character, Biodiversity and      

Geodiversity (Strategic Policy) 
 
LP21 - Environment, Design and Amenity (Strategic Policy) 
 
LP31 - Custom and Self-Build Housing (Strategic Policy) 
 
NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN POLICIES 
 
Policy 4: Replacement Dwellings 
 
Policy 6: Design 

27



Planning Committee 
1 December 2025 

25/01520/F 

 

 
Policy 7: Residential Parking Standards 
 
NATIONAL GUIDANCE  
 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) 
National Design Guide 2021 
 
 
PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS 
 
The main considerations are: 
 
Principle of development 
Demolition  
Form and character and impact on National Landscape 
Impact on neighbour amenity 
Highway safety 
Human Rights Act and Public Sector Equality Duty 
Any other matters requiring consideration prior to determination of the application 
 
Principle of Development: 
 
Policy LP01 (Spatial Strategy and Settlement Hierarchy) of the King's Lynn and West Norfolk 
Local Plan (2021 - 2040) seeks to steer development to sustainable locations. Residential 
development is acceptable in principle at this site as it is located within the settlement 
boundary of Burnham Market, as defined by Policy LP01. This settlement is considered to be 
a tier 4 'key rural service centre' and policy LP01 sets out that tier 4 settlements are the 
"most sustainable settlements within the rural areas of the district. They are large enough to 
sustain a range of local facilities. These services and facilities help meet the day-to-day 
needs of their residents but also provide services to other nearby smaller settlements."   
 
The proposal would not result in net new dwellings and therefore Policy LP02 (Windfall 
Development) is not wholly relevant. The definition of a windfall site in the Local Plan is -  
 
A site not specifically allocated but which comes forward for development during the course 
of a plan. These are most often previously developed sites being redeveloped or more 
intensively developed. The term is most often used in relation to the supply of housing.: 
 
In this case the site would be more intensively developed with a larger footprint and more 
living accommodation, albeit still only providing a single dwelling. Policy LP02 would support 
this 'windfall' site in so far as its location within the settlement boundary of the settlement, but 
the development would need to comply with other relevant Policies and meet 6 criterion set 
out in part 1 of Policy LP02 which are as follows:-  
 

a. It results in a sustainable design of development which respects and enhances local 
character, contributes to place making and the reinforcement of local distinctiveness, 
and can be readily assimilated into the settlement in accordance with design and 
sustainable policies LP18, LP21, LP22;  

 
b. It has regard to the size, type, tenure and range of housing that supports the needs of 

communities in accordance with housing policies LP28, LP29, LP30;  
 

28



Planning Committee 
1 December 2025 

25/01520/F 

 

c. It will not cause significant adverse impacts on services and infrastructure, and the local 
infrastructure is sufficient to accommodate the demands of the development in 
accordance with Policy LP05; and  

 
d. Its context makes a positive contribution to the local environment and landscape setting 

in accordance with environment policies LP06, LP15, LP16, LP19, LP23, LP26;  
 
e. It does not result in an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or residual, cumulative 

impacts on the road network which would be severe in accordance with transport Policy 
LP13; and  

 
f. The development maximises opportunities to reduce the need to travel and encourages 

sustainable and active travel modes of transport in accordance with Policy LP13. 
 
Further consideration will be given to the above points where relevant below, however in 
principle the proposal would see a semi-detached dwelling replaced with a semi-detached 
dwelling of similar height and design. It would be wider than the existing dwelling, with a 
ground floor front projection and a side and rear two storey projection. This would have a 
similar form to semi-detached houses which have been extended in the locality and would 
therefore meet criterion a.  
 
Part b is not relevant, as there is a 'fall back' in terms of the existing unrestricted market 
dwelling which this proposal replaces and therefore it is not possible to add restrictions on 
tenure for this one for one replacement.  
 
The proposal would not have an adverse impact on services as it is a replacement dwelling, 
and whilst larger, the increase requirement on services and infrastructure would be nominal 
(Part c.) The proposal would make a neutral impact by virtue of its small scale, but the 
proposed quality of materials and finishes and on-going maintenance of the dwelling would 
be positive as would the reuse of developed land, rather than unsympathetic encroachment 
into undeveloped agricultural land complying with part d.  
 
Part e. following the removal of the proposed carport garage to the front of the property and 
the change in parking layout, the proposal would comply with part e and by virtue of being 
within the settlement boundary of a key rural service centre with a separate footway to the 
village centre served by public transport (bus routes 26/26A, 201, 36 and 414 which is 
approximately 800m walk), and would therefore comply with part f.  
 
Burnham Market has an adopted Neighbourhood Development Plan and therefore the 
development needs to be considered against relevant policies. As a replacement dwelling 
with no net new dwellings proposed, Policy 1 (Housing Mix), Policy 2 (Affordable Housing), 
Policy 3 (Second Homes and Furnished Holiday Lets) are not relevant.  
 
In effect, the existing dwelling is not controlled in planning terms for its use or tenure and 
therefore any changes to this market dwelling's tenure or use within Use- class C3 
(dwellinghouses) would be acceptable as existing. As no new dwellings are proposed, these 
policies do not apply to the proposed replacement dwelling. The Neighbourhood Plan has 
not allocated sites for residential development or self-build and custom build development.  
 
Policy 4 (Replacement Dwellings) of Burnham Market Neighbourhood Development Plan 
(2022 - 2036) (BMNDP) is relevant however, and sets out proposals for replacements would 
be supported provided that they meet four criteria. In this case the first three criteria are 
relevant and these are as follows -  
 

29



Planning Committee 
1 December 2025 

25/01520/F 

 

a) They are appropriate to their location with the new dwelling integrating into the 
surrounding;  

b) Do not unacceptably affect the amenity of neighbouring properties;  
c) They are on a one-for-one basis; 

 
This report goes into more detail on point one and two in the sections on design and 
amenity, but in summary once built, the proposal is considered to integrate into the 
surroundings by taking the form of an extended dwelling of a similar form and character as 
the existing, albeit larger. This new dwelling would retain the general appearance of these 
semi-detached dwellings, albeit with 'extensions' (point a). The finished building has been 
designed to avoid harmful impacts on the neighbouring residential dwellings (point b) and 
would be on a one to one basis (point c). 
 
The application has been submitted as a Self-Build and Custom dwelling. At the current time 
the Council is experiencing some difficulty in demonstrating that it has met the need for 
Custom and Self-Build due to a change in legislation, however this does not mean that 
planning permission should automatically be granted - it is just one of a range of material 
considerations that needs to consider. 
 
In this case, as the proposal would not increase housing provision, as no net new dwellings 
are proposed, little weight is given to the fact that this proposal would be constructed as a 
self-build/custom house. 
 
Demolition: 
 
The complete demolition of a dwelling is considered to be operational development that 
requires planning permission. Planning Permission can be granted through an application 
such as this, where it is part of the proposed development or through permitted development 
rights in many cases.  
 
Demolition is inherent in certain planning policies. In this case Policy 4 of the BMNDP allows 
replacement dwellings, which would require the demolition of the original dwelling.  
 
The application has been supported by a structural survey. This has set out that the building 
is subject to some structural deficiencies including slight weaknesses to the roof, some 
bowing of walls (Up to 10mm) and structural cracks (up to 3mm), and lists issues associated 
with wear and tear, damp, lack of insulation. The structural survey does not conclude that 
the building is beyond repair.  It does conclude that demolition and rebuild would be the 
“preferred option to fully upgrade the property to modern building standards”.  
 
Policy 4 does not require there to be a justification for the replacement of the dwelling, i.e. 
due to structural failures, or issues associated with energy performance etc.  
 
Policy LP06, Policy 6 (part k) (Design) of the BMNDP and part 2 of the NPPF consider the 
importance of development contributing to the reduction in CO2 emissions and meeting net 
zero targets. Demolition, and the loss of the embedded carbon within the existing building 
materials is relevant, as are the improvements of a modernised efficient building reducing 
ongoing energy use and associated emissions. Policy LP06 does not require minor 
development to be supported by a sustainability and climate change statement but the agent 
has set out a brief assessment of the options available to them in terms of either retro-fitting 
the property, or the full demolition and re-build. The loss of embedded carbon or the 
emissions associated with the new build have not been assessed as this is not required in 
policy terms, and some weight is given to the future reductions.  
 

30



Planning Committee 
1 December 2025 

25/01520/F 

 

It is important to note that in a large proportion of cases, demolition has in effect been 
granted planning permission by the Government in the provisions of the Town and Country 
Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015. The specific section 
relevant is in Schedule 2, Part 11 (Heritage and demolition), Class B (Demolition of 
buildings). In this case, the applicant could as an alternative to this planning application 
submit a prior approval application to the Council for confirmation that the works are 
permitted development. This is because the dwelling is not a statutorily listed building and is 
not within a conservation area.  
 
Therefore, the loss of the existing dwelling through demolition is in principle acceptable, 
subject to limitations during the demolition to control the impact upon neighbour’s amenity.  
 
Separate to the control of demolition through planning legislation, demolition would be 
controlled by other legislation. This includes Health and Safety Legislation, The Party Wall 
Act, civil law, and the building regulations. By granting planning permission, this would not 
circumvent the applicants need to comply with this other legislation. The fact that neighbours 
would need to consider the implications of works adjacent to or affecting their land (such as 
Party Wall legislation) is not a material planning matter. 
 
Form and Character and impact on National Landscape: 
 
Policies LP02, LP18 (Design and Sustainable Development) and LP21 (Environment Design 
and Amenity) of the Local Plan, Paragraph 135 of the NPPF and Policy 6 (Design) of the 
BMNDP are all relevant in terms of design, scale, form of development and the impact it has 
upon the character of an area.   
 
Policy LP16 is relevant to this development as the site is within the Norfolk Coast National 
Landscape. This policy states that: 
 
Planning permission for any proposal within the National Landscape or affecting the setting 
of the National Landscape, will only be granted when it:  
 

a) conserves and enhances the Norfolk Coast National Landscape’s special qualities, 
distinctive character, tranquillity and remoteness in accordance with national planning 
policy and the overall purpose of the National Landscape designation; and avoids 
adverse impacts from individual proposals (including their cumulative effects), unless 
these can be satisfactorily mitigated; and  

 
b) is appropriate to the economic, social and environmental wellbeing of the area or is 

desirable for its understanding and enjoyment. 
 
When considering development within a National Landscape (A Protected Landscape) the 
Local Planning Authority has a duty under Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000 (As 
amended) to seek to further the statutory purposes of Protected Landscapes.  
 
Paragraph 189 of the NPPF sets out: 
 
Great weight should be given to conserving and enhancing landscape and scenic beauty in 
National Parks, the Broads and National Landscapes which have the highest status of 
protection in relation to these issues. The conservation and enhancement of wildlife and 
cultural heritage are also important considerations in these areas, and should be given great 
weight in National Parks and the Broads. The scale and extent of development within all 
these designated areas should be limited, while development within their setting should be 

31



Planning Committee 
1 December 2025 

25/01520/F 

 

sensitively located and designed to avoid or minimise adverse impacts on the designated 
areas. 
 
The most prominent elements of the development would be the two-storey main house with 
its stepped down, set back ‘side extension’ that projects further to the side than the original 
house, and the single storey part front and side flat roof projection.  
 
To the rear the proposed single storey pitched roof rear projection replaces an existing rear 
projection and is set in from the neighbouring boundaries where a conservatory currently is 
sited.  
 
Policy 6 sets out 11 criteria (parts a – k) by which design should be assessed. The BMNDP 
is supported by a specific design guidance and design code document. The site is located 
within an area characterised as CA2 ‘Southern Cluster’ with predominantly bungalows and 
some semi-detached two storey council housing. 
 
In this case as a replacement dwelling, the proposal would retain a similar level density of 
development (ie. Low density) of the character area (part a). This is the case even with an 
extended footprint, although the application has been amended to remove the proposed 
garage from the scheme which reduces the density of development. The site would have a 
similar character to other existing dwellings which have seen additional domestic extensions 
and outbuildings built overtime.  
 
The main section of the house would have the same roof ridge and eaves height as the 
neighbouring dwelling and use the same hipped roof design (part b) as the original. The 
materials proposed are of a relatively modern high specification but would mimic to a degree 
the external appearance of those used in the interwar local authority housing (part c).  
 
The dwelling continues to follow the linear development and fronts onto the road. The two 
storey elements of the new dwelling would be in line with the original and neighbouring 
house. The set back side projection with stepped down roof ridge would read in the context 
of the neighbouring properties extension to the east, albeit has a more appropriate hipped 
roof design.  
 
Whilst a front projection at ground floor level is proposed, this would not wrap around the full 
front elevation and the original building line would be clear. Nor is it a tall structure and would 
have the appearance of a porch. On balance, this is considered to accord with parts d and e 
of Policy 6.   
 
Subject to a landscaping condition, the proposal shows a screening hedge along the front 
boundary and retains sufficient front and rear garden areas (Parts f and g). It is noted that 
the development would lead to cars being parked at the front of the site, rather than the side 
of the site. A condition would be required to ensure that the landscaping scheme complies 
with part h of Policy 6 (at least 50% of the frontage being retained as landscaping area).  
 
As the site is within the Norfolk Coast National Landscape consideration is given to Policy 
LP16 parts a) and b) as well as NPPF paragraph 189. The redevelopment of an existing 
residential dwelling would avoid impacts on the National Landscape as the site is developed 
land within the context of a street scene which is bound on both sides by development.  
 
Consideration has been given to the statutory duty to seek to further the purposes of 
protected landscapes, and in this case the proposal would not have an adverse impact upon 
the National Landscape.  
 

32



Planning Committee 
1 December 2025 

25/01520/F 

 

The proposal is therefore considered to accord with Policies LP02, LP16, LP18 and LP21 of 
the Local Plan, Paragraphs 135 and 189 of the NPPF and Policy 6 (Design) of the BMNDP. 
 
Impact on Neighbour Amenity: 
 
Policy LP21 of the Local Plan 2021-2040 sets out that proposals will be assessed against 
their impact on neighbouring uses and their occupants and this is assessed by a variety of 
factors. Those relevant to the amenity of neighbours in this case are: 
 

b. overlooking, overbearing, overshadowing; 
c. noise; 
e. air quality; 
f. light pollution; 
g. contamination and soil quality; 
j. visual impact. 

 
The NPPF at paragraph 135 seeks to create places that are safe, inclusive and accessible 
and which promote health and well-being, with a high standard of amenity for existing and 
future users; and where crime and disorder, and the fear of crime, do not undermine the 
quality of life or community cohesion and resilience. and; 
 
Policy 4 part b of the BMNDP stipulates that proposals for replacement dwellings do not 
unacceptably affect the amenity of neighbouring properties.  
 
In relation to the completed development, the extension would not result in adverse impacts 
upon neighbouring residential amenity. The main area of additional development proposed 
would be to the side of where the existing house stands. As such the additional width of the 
two-storey structure towards the northern boundary would have some impact upon 
neighbouring amenity of the house to the north and may at times of the day and year may 
cause some additional shadowing of neighbouring gardens.  
 
However, as the two-storey element of the dwelling follows the same front and rear building 
lines as the original dwelling and its adjoined neighbour, and the roof is slightly stepped 
down, and there is a separation distance to the boundary, this impact would be limited. The 
two-storey element would not result in any significant further overshadowing to the south.  
 
The single storey elements are set in from boundaries and are not excessively tall (albeit 
taller to include increased roof insulation etc) than older extensions, and therefore the 
proposal would not result in adverse impacts over what exists currently in terms of impact on 
daylight, sun light or outlook.  
 
The proposal does include additional windows in the north side elevation and in the side 
elevation of the rear projection. Those at ground floor are set away from the boundary by 
approximately 1.0m and would be screened by boundary treatment. The first-floor window 
would face towards the side and front garden of the neighbouring dwelling. This window is 
set away from the boundary and whilst is serves a habitable room, it would not cause 
significant overlooking of either the rear garden or room to room privacy issues. This is 
because the neighbouring dwelling is set back in relation to the application site.  
 
In regard to the amenity of neighbours during demolition and construction, in particular those 
living at the adjoining dwelling, this has been raised as a serious concern in many of the 
public representations. The Council’s CSNN officer has commented on the application and 
does not object to the proposal. In planning terms, as stated above, demolition, and in 

33



Planning Committee 
1 December 2025 

25/01520/F 

 

general building works are not prohibited or stifled by policy subject to controls over their 
impact.  
 
However, demolition and building works can have a detrimental impact upon the amenity of 
neighbours and the environment. Whilst the legislation separate to planning above would 
generally control much of the practical development including demolition, some control is 
required through planning conditions. In this case, due to the building being ‘semi-detached’, 
it is considered reasonable and necessary to attach planning conditions to limit the hours of 
work, and to require further information regarding the construction management scheme to 
be submitted for approval. Whilst steps would therefore be taken to reduce the impact, this 
cannot be fully alleviated. It is considered however that with these controls in place, the 
amenity harm would be reduced so as to make the impact acceptable. It is noted that the 
objections state a 3 year process, and whilst the LPA would have no control over the 
development program once commenced, the demolition process would not take years.  
 
 
It is considered that the operational development would cause some harm, but through the 
use of planning conditions this can be minimised, and that the final design has been 
assessed as not having a significant impact upon amenity in accordance with Policy LP21 of 
the Local Plan 2021-2040 Part 2 b, c, e, f, g, and j; Paragraph 135 part f of the NPPF 2024; 
and Policy 4 part b of the BMNDP. Therefore subject to conditions the harm is not 
considered sufficient to warrant refusal.  
 
Highway Safety: 
 
Following the removal of the proposed garage and layout of onsite parking and turning the 
proposal has been considered acceptable in highways terms by the Local Highway Authority 
and would comply with Policy LP13 (Transportation) and LP14 (Parking Provision in New 
Development). 
 
Other matters requiring consideration prior to the determination of this application: 
 
The site is located in an area designated as flood zone 1 and as a replacement dwelling 
would not be at an increased risk of flooding, or result in increased risk of flooding 
elsewhere.  
 
In terms of ecology and biodiversity net gain, the site has been considered by the Council’s 
ecologist and it is not considered necessary to survey the building for bats due to the 
location, construction and roof materials. The development would not encroach into 
undeveloped land, and as a self-build would be exempt from biodiversity net gain 
requirements. A condition would be attached to ensure that as part of the landscaping 
scheme some biodiversity enhancements are included, however this does not need to 
comply with statutory BNG requirements. A condition would be attached to ensure that if the 
development is not brought forward on a self-build basis that BNG can be secured.  
 
The proposal, which does not result in a net increase in residential dwellings, would not be 
liable for GIRAMs payment.  
 
The development does not require any contributions due to it being of a small scale, 
however the development would be CIL liable.  
 
Potential sources of contamination have been identified should the building be demolished, 
specifically asbestos within the fabric of the building. However, the Environmental Quality 
team raise no objection on contamination grounds subject to the demolition following 

34



Planning Committee 
1 December 2025 

25/01520/F 

 

separate legislation associated with the safe removal of asbestos. The proposal complies 
with Policy LP21 of the New Local Plan in regard to contamination. 
 
The building is not listed and is not within a conservation area. There are no known 
archaeological implications and therefore the demolition of the building and its replacement 
in historic terms is considered acceptable.  
 
The CSNN team have requested that details of foul water drainage are controlled through 
planning condition. However, this is not considered to meet the tests of planning conditions, 
specifically not being reasonable or necessary in this instance. The reason being, as an 
existing dwelling there is an existing connection to foul water sewers which could be utilised, 
and secondly, as part of the required building control consenting regime this would be 
controlled at that stage. Therefore, it is not considered justified to duplicate this process at a 
planning stage, considering there is an existing connection.  
 
Human rights and Public Sector Equality Duty 
 
The concerns raised in the Parish Council Objection and the letters of objection by 
neighbours cover issues related to noise and disturbance of the demolition and potential 
harm to property through the works occurring and harm to the amenity and health of the 
neighbours.  
 
The interference with Article 8 of the European Convention on Human Rights (ECHR) rights 
of any proposed occupiers and also the neighbours at the adjoining properties to respect for 
private and family life and the home is a qualified right and must be weighed against the 
wider public interest in the upholding of the law, including planning law which aims to 
balance the competing demands and impacts of development.  
 
In this case the wider benefit of allowing new development which meets the needs of 
changing energy efficiency standards and living conditions is set out in national and local 
plan policy. In this instance given that there are controls available to limit the harmful impact 
of the demolition through planning conditions, and also separate legislation related to party 
wall the impact is not considered unacceptable.  
 
The Public Sector Equality Duty under the Equality Act 2010 is relevant in this instance given 
that a protected characteristic has been raised in the age of neighbours to the development 
site and the impact that the proposal may have on their health and amenity. 
  
The LPA sympathise and accept that the works including demolition of the application 
building would have an impact on the neighbour’s amenity and potentially their personal 
health during the demolition and construction phases of development with the potential for 
noise, disturbance, dust and vibration. That said the LPA cannot apportion significant weight 
to this when considering the planning balance. Neighbouring amenity is a material planning 
issue in the determination of the application, however, through planning conditions it is 
possible to minimise this impact.  
In making this decision the Authority must have regard to the public sector equality duty 
(PSED) under s.149 of the Equalities Act. This means that the Council must have due regard 
to the need (in discharging its functions) to:  
 

A. Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other conduct 
prohibited by the Act  

 
B. Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected characteristic 

and those who do not. This may include removing or minimising disadvantages 

35



Planning Committee 
1 December 2025 

25/01520/F 

 

suffered by persons who share a relevant protected characteristic that are connected 
to that characteristic; taking steps to meet the special needs of those with a protected 
characteristic; encouraging participation in public life (or other areas where they are 
underrepresented) of people with a protected characteristic(s).  

 
C. Foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and those 

who do not including tackling prejudice and promoting understanding. The protected 
characteristics are age, disability, gender reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, 
race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation.  
The PSED must be considered as a relevant factor in making this decision but does 
not impose a duty to achieve the outcomes in s.149. It is only one factor that needs to 
be considered and may be balanced against other relevant factors.  

 
In this instance, the impact of development including demolition is considered to have an 
impact on the amenity of these neighbours. Through planning control in the form of 
conditions such as the hours of work and requirement for a detailed construction 
management scheme this impact is considered to be minimised. It is also considered that 
protections included in separate legislation such as relating to asbestos removal, building 
regulations and the Party Wall Act would protect to a degree the amenity and health of 
neighbours.  
 
Representations: 
 
The issues raised in the representations objecting to the scheme where related to material 
planning matters have been covered within the body of the report. Some comments are not 
relevant in determining a planning application. These include where the applicants have 
moved from, their own motive to do work on a property which they own, that the Council 
should not consider the application, the property use is restricted by covenants and council 
tax.  
 
 
CONCLUSION: 
 
The development is considered to be acceptable and in accordance with the National 
Planning Policy Framework and Planning Practice Guidance, relevant policies of the King’s 
Lynn and West Norfolk Local Plan and Burnham Market Neighbourhood Development Plan. 
 
The concerns of the Parish Council, direct neighbours and other respondents have been 
considered, however, subject to controls over the hours of work and method of demolition 
the impact of this development is not considered to pose an unacceptable impact upon 
neighbouring residents. It is noted that other legislation associated with private property 
ownership, demolition and building works would also be relevant which would control the 
proposed development and building works and protect private property rights.  
 
In regard to the design, character and form as well as amenity impacts of the proposed 
larger structure, the fact that it would to a greater degree mimic the original building, and 
take the form of an extended semi-detached dwelling is considered acceptable when 
considered against Policies LP02, LP18 (Design and Sustainable Development) and LP21 
(Environment Design and Amenity) of the Local Plan, Paragraph of the NPPF and Policy 6 
(Design) of the BMNDP. 
 
The harm associated with this proposed development to adjoining neighbours during the 
demolition and construction phase has been assessed. Whilst there would undoubtedly be 
impacts upon the amenity of neighbours, subject to conditions these impacts are not 

36



Planning Committee 
1 December 2025 

25/01520/F 

 

considered unacceptable. There is a Public Sector Equality Duty under the Equality Act 2010 
and Human Rights Act (HRA) 1998 to consider any impacts where it affects a protected 
characteristic (Age in this case). It is concluded that consideration has been given to the 
disturbance the development would have upon the neighbours enjoyment of their house, 
however the wider public benefits which are the allowing new development which meets the 
needs of changing energy efficiency standards and living conditions as supported in national 
and local plan policy would weigh in favour of this development.  
 
As a result, the proposal is considered acceptable and complies with all relevant planning 
policies referenced including Policies LP01, LP02, LP03, LP04, LP06, LP13, LP14, LP16, 
LP18, LP19, LP21, LP31 of the Local Plan, Polices 4, 6 and 7 of the Burnham Market 
Neighbourhood Development Plan, and the National Planning Policy Framework.  
  
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
 
APPROVE subject to the imposition of the following condition(s): 
 
1 Condition: The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of 

three years from the date of this permission. 
 

1 Reason: To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act, 1990, as 
amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act, 2004. 
 

 2 Condition: The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with 
the following approved plans. 

 

• 322 Proposed Elevations front and back 

• 323 proposed Elevations side and courtyard 

• 302 rev 01 Proposed Block plan 

• 310 rev01 Existing and Proposed Site Section 

• 300 Location Plan 

• 311 Existing and proposed roof plan 

• 313 Proposed ground and first floor plan 
 

2 Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 
 

3 Condition: Demolition, clearance, construction, development or any work on site, along 
with collections and deliveries of waste products, material and equipment, shall only be 
carried out between the hours of 0830 and 1730 weekdays, with no work allowed on 
Saturdays, Sundays and Bank/Public Holidays. Piling, where applicable, shall only be 
carried out weekdays between the hours of 0900-1700 and must be the CFA 
(continuous flight auger) technique only. 
 

 3 Reason: To ensure that the works are properly controlled in the interests of 
safeguarding the amenity of neighbours in accordance with the principles of the NPPF 
and Policy LP21 of the Local Plan 2021 - 2040. 

 
4 Condition: Prior to commencement of demolition and development a detailed 

construction management scheme must be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority; this must include the conditioned working and 
delivery/collection hours (see condition 3). The scheme shall also provide the location 
of any fixed machinery, their sound power levels, all acoustic noise control measures, 
the location of contractor parking, the location and layout of the materials storage area, 

37



Planning Committee 
1 December 2025 

25/01520/F 

 

machinery storage area and waste & recycling storage area, all proposed attenuation 
and mitigation methods to protect residents from noise, dust, vibrations and lighting, 
and communication methods to the attached residents regarding the demolition & 
construction phases and likely disruptions. If piling is required, and also for the 
demolition phase, in particular, a detailed and full assessment of noise and vibration 
impacts should be included. The scheme shall be implemented as approved until the 
dwelling is habitable. 
 

 4 Reason: To ensure that the works are properly controlled in the interests of 
safeguarding the amenity of neighbours in accordance with the principles of the NPPF 
and Policy LP21 of the Local Plan 2021 - 2040.  

 
This also needs to be a pre-commencement condition given the fundamental details 
linked to management of demolition which need to be planned for at the earliest stage 
in the development. 
 

5 Condition: Work on site shall not commence until a scheme detailing provision for on-
site parking for construction workers for the duration of the demolition and construction 
period has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the LPA. The scheme shall 
be implemented until the development is completed. 
 

 5 Reason: In the interests of highway safety and to protect the amenity of neighbours in 
accordance with Policies LP13 and LP21 of the Local Plan 2021 - 2040. 

 
6 Condition: Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted the 

proposed access, on-site car parking and turning area shall be laid out, demarcated, 
levelled, surfaced and drained in accordance with the approved plan and retained 
thereafter available for that specific use. 
 

 6 Reason: To ensure the permanent availability of the parking/manoeuvring areas, in the 
interests of satisfactory development and highway safety in accordance with and 
Policies LP13 and LP14 of the Local Plan 2021 - 2040. 

 
7 Condition: Notwithstanding details submitted with the application, prior to the 

installation of any air source heat pump(s) a detailed scheme shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall specify the 
make, model and sound power levels of the proposed unit(s), the siting of the unit(s) 
and the distances from the proposed unit(s) to the boundaries with neighbouring 
dwellings, plus provide details of antivibration mounts, and noise attenuation 
measures. The scheme shall be implemented as approved and thereafter maintained 
as such. 
 

 7 Reason: In the interests of the amenities of the locality in accordance with the 
principles of the NPPF and Policies LP18 and LP21 of the Local Plan 2021 - 2040. 

 
8 Condition: "Biodiversity Net Gain Self Build Exemption 

 
(i) The dwelling hereby permitted shall be constructed as a self-build dwelling within 

the definition of a self-build and custom build housing in the Self-build and 
Custom Housebuilding Act 2015 as amended (2016). 

(ii) The first occupation of the dwelling hereby permitted shall be by a person or 
persons who had a primary input into the design and layout of the dwelling and 
who will live in the dwelling for at least 3 years 

38



Planning Committee 
1 December 2025 

25/01520/F 

 

(iii) Prior to the first occupation of the dwelling the Council shall be notified of the  
person(s) who will take up first occupation of the dwelling." 

 
 8 Reason: To ensure the development meets the criteria for self build and custom build 

application Biodiversity Net Gain exemption in accordance with Paragraph 13 of  
Schedule 7A of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 

 
9 Condition: Prior to the first use or occupation of the development hereby approved, full 

details of both hard and soft landscape works shall have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  These details shall include 
finished levels or contours, hard surface materials, refuse or other storage units, street 
furniture, structures and other minor artefacts.  Soft landscape works shall include 
planting plans, written specifications (including cultivation and other operations 
associated with plant and grass establishment) schedules of plants noting species, 
plant sizes and proposed numbers and densities where appropriate. 
 

 9 Reason: To ensure that the development is properly landscaped in the interests of the 
visual amenities of the locality in accordance with the NPPF and Policy LP18 and LP21 
of the Local Plan 2021 - 2040. 

 
10 Condition: All hard and soft landscape works shall be carried out in accordance with 

the approved details.  The works shall be carried out prior to the occupation or use of 
any part of the development or in accordance with a programme to be agreed in writing 
with the Local Planning Authority.  Any trees or plants that within a period of 5 years 
from the completion of the development die, are removed or become seriously 
damaged or diseased, shall be replaced in the next planting season with others of 
similar size and species as those originally planted, unless the Local Planning 
Authority gives written approval to any variation. 
 

10 Reason: To ensure that the work is carried out within a reasonable period in 
accordance with the NPPF and Policy LP18 and LP21 of the Local Plan 2021 - 2040. 

 
11 Condition: No development or other operations shall commence on site until the 

existing trees and/or hedgerows to be retained have been protected in accordance with 
a scheme that has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.  The scheme shall provide for the erection of fencing for the protection of any 
retained tree or hedge before any equipment, machinery, or materials are brought on 
to the site for the purposes of development or other operations.  The fencing shall be 
retained intact for the full duration of the development until all equipment, materials and 
surplus materials have been removed from the site. If the fencing is damaged all 
operations shall cease until it is repaired in accordance with the approved details.  
Nothing shall be stored or placed in any fenced area in accordance with this condition 
and the ground levels within those areas shall not be altered, nor shall any excavations 
be made without the written approval of the Local Planning Authority. 
 

11 Reason: To ensure that existing trees and hedgerows are properly protected in 
accordance with the NPPF and Policy LP18, LP21 of the Local Plan 2021 - 2040.  

 
This needs to be a pre-commencement condition given the potential for damage to 
protected trees during the construction phase. 
 

12 Condition: No development shall take place on any external surface of the 
development hereby permitted until details of the type, colour and texture of all 
materials to be used for the external surfaces of the building(s) have been submitted to 

39



Planning Committee 
1 December 2025 

25/01520/F 

 

and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The development shall be 
carried out in accordance with the approved details. 
 

12 Reason: To ensure a satisfactory external appearance and grouping of materials in 
accordance with the principles of the NPPF and Policies LP18 and LP21 of the Local 
Plan 2021 - 2040. 

 
 

40



3

2
9

2.5m

2.6m

Drain

28
32

15

21
16

Hollow

20
9

22
1

19
5

18
8

21
8

19
2

20
0

22
2

18
6

20
1

22
4

20
8

19
3

21
7

21
4

21
2

20
5

19
7

19
4

18
5

21
1

19
8b

9

4

WALTON ROAD

Hickathrift

19
8a

Poppycocks

18
1

22
4a

D
ra

in

Drain

Drain

15

Scale:

25/00060/O

Land N of 4 Walton Road Marshland St James Norfolk PE14 8DP

Organisation
Department
Comments

Date

MSA Number

Department
 

BCKLWN

17/11/2025

© Crown copyright and database rights 2025
Ordnance Survey AC0000819234

0 0.055 0.110.0275
KM

Legend

0100024314

41



Scale:

25/00060/O

Land N of 4 Walton Road Marshland St James Norfolk PE14 8DP

Organisation
Department
Comments

Date

MSA Number

Department
 

BCKLWN

17/11/2025

© Crown copyright and database rights 2025
Ordnance Survey AC0000819234

0 0.1 0.20.05
KM

Legend

0100024314

42



AGENDA ITEM NO: 9/2 (b) 
 

Planning Committee 
1 December 2025 

25/00060/O 

 

Parish: 
 

Marshland St James 

 

Proposal: 
 

OUTLINE APPLICATION - 9 Self Build Dwellings 

Location: 
 

Land N of 4  Walton Road  Marshland St James  Norfolk PE14 8DP 

Applicant: 
 

Mr Nick Barker 

Case  No: 
 

25/00060/O  (Outline Application) 

Case Officer: Mr K Wilkinson 
 

Date for Determination: 
29 April 2025  

Extension of Time Expiry Date: 
5 December 2025  
 

 

Reason for Referral to Planning Committee – At the discretion of the Assistant Director 

due to the adoption of the Marshland St James Neighbourhood Plan. 
  

 

Neighbourhood Plan:  Yes 
 

 

 
Case Summary 
 
The application seeks outline planning permission for 9 no. self-build dwellings, on a parcel of 
land on the NE side of Walton Road with access proposed off Walton Road (via a vacant 
building plot in a row of recently built houses) and to the rear of dwellings facing Smeeth Road 
just NE of the Hickathrift crossroads junction. The layout and access are for consideration at 
this stage and plans demonstrate 9 plots served off a private drive; all other matters are 
reserved for later consideration. 
 
The current use of the land is agriculture (grade 2). The application site lies mostly outside of 
the development boundary of Marshland St James (access drive plus a strip of approx. 12m 
to the rear of Walton Road properties is inside) and abuts it on the SE boundary. The site lies 
within Flood Zones 2 & 3A. 
 
This application was proceeding towards an approval subject to a Section 106 agreement (to 
secure affordable housing contribution, GIRAMS payment and Custom & Self-Build tenure) 
following referral to the Planning Sifting Panel on 4th June 2025 due to the objection of the 
Parish Council. 
 
However, in the interim prior to completion of the legal agreement, the Marshland St James 
Neighbourhood Plan has been adopted (on 8th October 2025) which has raised some conflict 
and is now the most up-to-date planning policy consideration and has full weight, so the 
application has been referred to the Planning Committee for determination at the discretion of 
the Assistant Director. 
 
 
 
 
 

43



Planning Committee 
1 December 2025 

25/00060/O 

 

Key Issues 
 
Principle of development 
Form and character 
Impact on neighbours 
Highway impacts 
Affordable housing 
Ecology 
Flood risk issues 
Drainage 
Other material considerations 
 
Recommendation 
 
REFUSE 
 

 
 
THE APPLICATION 
 
The application seeks outline planning permission for 9 no. self-build dwellings, on a parcel of 
land on the NE side of Walton Road with access proposed off Walton Road (via a vacant 
building plot in a row of recently built houses) and to the rear of dwellings facing Smeeth Road 
just NE of the Hickathrift crossroads junction. The layout and access are for consideration at 
this stage and plans demonstrate 9 plots served off a private drive; all other matters are 
reserved for later consideration. 
 
The current use of the land is agriculture (grade 2). The application site lies mostly outside of 
the development boundary of Marshland St James (access drive plus a strip of approx. 12m 
to the rear of Walton Road properties is inside) and abuts it on the SE boundary. The site lies 
within Flood Zones 2 & 3A. 
 
 
SUPPORTING CASE 
 
The following submission has been made in support of this proposal: 
 
“Under Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, Local Planning Authorities 
must have regard to the development plan and to any other material planning considerations 
when determining an application. In this instance, the relevant development plan comprises 
the Marshland St James Neighbourhood Plan (NP) and the King’s Lynn and West Norfolk 
Local Plan (Local Plan). 
 
A significant material consideration in this case is the Council’s current inability to demonstrate 
a sufficient supply of self-build plots, despite its statutory duty under the Self-build and Custom 
Housebuilding Act 2015 (as amended) to meet identified demand. This persistent shortfall 
represents an ongoing failure to provide opportunities for individuals and groups wishing to 
build their own homes. 
 
The application therefore offers an immediate and measurable contribution toward addressing 
this unmet statutory obligation. By providing up to nine self-build plots, the proposal would 
make a meaningful and locally relevant addition to the Council’s self-build register supply, 
directly assisting in fulfilling national and local policy objectives to diversify housing delivery 
and encourage greater community participation in the housing market. 

44



Planning Committee 
1 December 2025 

25/00060/O 

 

 
The NPPF makes clear that local planning authorities should take proactive steps to meet the 
needs of those wishing to build or commission their own homes. Given the limited supply of 
plots across the borough, this proposal represents a valuable and deliverable opportunity to 
expand housing choice, promote self-reliance, and foster high-quality, individually designed 
homes tailored to local needs. These are clear social and economic benefits that weigh 
substantially in favour of the development. 
 
The NP identifies key community priorities, including the need for more local services and a 
housing mix that reflects local demand. While the NP recognises the village’s linear character 
and generally discourages development in depth, the proposal’s partial location within the 
defined development boundary, and its capacity to deliver much-needed self-build and 
affordable housing, justify a balanced and flexible interpretation of these policies. 
 
The scheme provides for one on-site affordable unit alongside a financial contribution towards 
further affordable provision, secured through a Section 106 Agreement currently in 
preparation. The site’s proximity to the village centre and its partial inclusion within the 
settlement boundary render it sustainable and accessible, consistent with Policy LP02 of the 
Local Plan. There is sufficient space to deliver dwellings of an appropriate scale, design, and 
layout, consistent with Policies LP18 and LP21. 
 
While the proposal introduces limited development beyond the traditional linear form of 
Marshland St James, it would deliver significant and tangible benefits by directly contributing 
to the Borough’s self-build housing supply, meeting an identified need, and offering affordable 
housing within the village. These benefits align with the Government’s drive to widen housing 
choice and empower individuals to build their own homes. 
 
When weighed against any minor conflict with neighbourhood plan policy, the clear and 
measurable public benefits, particularly the contribution toward meeting the Council’s statutory 
self-build duty, are considered to decisively outweigh any limited harm. The planning balance 
therefore lies firmly in favour of granting outline permission.” 
 
 
PLANNING HISTORY 
 
Front part of site: 
17/01016/RMM:  Application Permitted:  21/08/17 - Reserved Matters Application for 
residential development of 15 new dwellings (Delegated decision) 
 
16/00122/OM:  Application Permitted:  24/05/16 - OUTLINE APPLICATION SOME MATTERS 
RESERVED: Residential development for 15 new dwellings (Delegated decision) 
 
 
RESPONSE TO CONSULTATION 
 
Parish Council: OBJECT - Extracts from the Design & Access Statement are mentioned 
below – the Council’s comments follow each point: 
2.4 states that Policy CS06 aims to maintain local character and ensure that other facilities 
are within close proximity to the site. 
 
Marshland St James is a linear Parish, with linear development. The proposed ‘back-fill’ 
development would not blend into the street scene. The Parish as a whole has minimal 
facilities – no public transport, no medical facilities, no public house and no shop. Marshland 
Hall is a significant local and regional social centre, and Marshland St James Methodist 

45



Planning Committee 
1 December 2025 

25/00060/O 

 

Church offers worship and a meeting space. The village school is close to capacity and the 
nearest Doctor’s surgery are some three miles away. 
 
2.4 refers to the emerging Neighbourhood Plan document stating that ‘a preferred site further 
to the West has been proposed for housing’. 
 
That was the case early in development of the emerging Neighbourhood Plan, but the site 
was removed from the version that is in final consultation based on parishioners’ objections. 
 
2.4 also states that the proposal presents ‘a direct benefit to the local community by means of 
the provision [of] dwellings that are more affordable’. 
 
The application is for self-build plots not dwellings so cannot meet the aim mentioned above. 
 
Moving to Page 5 the applicant mentions the three dimensions of sustainable development: 
 
Economic Role – the proposal would enhance the vitality and viability of the new village 
community centre. 
 
The number of potential new residents is insignificant in relation to the total population of the 
Parish. 
 
Social Role – Mention is made of ‘local services of health, social and cultural well-being’. 
 
As stated above, the Parish has no medical facilities, and only the Church and Marshland Hall 
for social activities. 
Environmental Role – states that the proposal constitutes development between existing 
buildings. 
 
The sketch of the development shows that the proposed plots form ‘back-fill’ development 
rather than infill between existing buildings. 
 
As evidenced by the design and access statement this development of 9 detached houses 
would show an extra dependency on car travel for the basic of amenities, with the nearest 
doctors' surgery 3 miles away. Marshland St James does not have a regular bus service. This 
development is therefore contrary to CS11 of the Core Strategy which deals with traffic issues 
in new developments. 
 
Further comments: 
The Parish Neighbourhood Plan was recently consulted on via a door-drop to all properties in 
the Parish. Parishioners were clearly opposed to any development of scale – the current 
application would clearly fall into that category. 
 
The Design and Access Statement refers on Page 3 to the site being unused agricultural land 
that is now ‘unsuitable for agricultural use due to its size and isolation from any access points’, 
although the application proposes a 10m wide private driveway, a size that would facilitate 
agricultural access should the land be put into cultivation. 
 
The application concerns the development of open countryside/former agricultural land which 
would allow buildings outside of the defined development area of the village. There are no 
material considerations to outweigh the principal objection to this application and therefore as 
it is contrary to the provisions of the NPPF and the core strategy policies CS06 CS08 of the 
Local Development Framework, the Parish Council objects to this application. 
 

46



Planning Committee 
1 December 2025 

25/00060/O 

 

Councillors understand that the sewerage system through the Parish is at capacity, enquiries 
should be made to ensure that nine additional properties (potential for 40+ residents) can be 
accommodated. 
 
Local Highway Authority: NO OBJECTION subject to conditions. 
 
Environment Agency: NO OBJECTION 
 
District Emergency Planning Officer: NO OBJECTION suggests signing up to EA’s flood 
warning system and preparation of an evacuation plan. 
 
IDB: NO OBJECTION – comments regarding byelaw matters. 
 
Anglian Water: OBJECTION - Concerns expressed regarding downstream capacity, but pre-
commencement condition suggested to secure any necessary upgrades. 
 
Environmental Quality: NO OBJECTION 
 
Historic Environment Services: NO IMPLICATIONS 
 
Norfolk Constabulary: NO OBJECTION offers comments on pursuit of Secured by Design 
accreditation. 
 
Norfolk Fire & Rescue Services: NO OBJECTION subject to condition to provide a fire 
hydrant as part of the development. 
 
Senior Ecologist: NO OBJECTION subject to conditions. 
 
Housing Development Officer: NO OBJECTION subject to legal agreement to secure 
affordable housing contribution – one built unit for rent and commuted sum of £56,800 towards 
off-site provision. 
 
 
REPRESENTATIONS: A total of NINE items of correspondence raising OBJECTION to the 
proposed development on the following summarised grounds: 
 

• Residential amenity/privacy/overlooking 

• Disturbance/dust during construction 

• Crime and disorder concerns 

• Drainage 

• Overdevelopment 

• Wildlife 

• Pressure on school and lack of facilities 
 
 
KING’S LYNN AND WEST NORFOLK LOCAL PLAN 2021-2040 
 
LP01 - Spatial Strategy and Settlement Hierarchy Policy (Strategic Policy) 
 
LP02 - Residential Development on Windfall Sites (Strategic Policy) 
 
LP04 - Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development Policy (Strategic Policy) 
 
LP06 - Climate Change (Strategic Policy) 

47



Planning Committee 
1 December 2025 

25/00060/O 

 

LP13 - Transportation (Strategic Policy) 
 
LP18 - Design & Sustainable Development (Strategic Policy) 
 
LP19 - Environmental Assets - Green Infrastructure, Landscape Character, Biodiversity and 

Geodiversity (Strategic Policy) 
 
LP21 - Environment, Design and Amenity (Strategic Policy) 
 
LP23 - Green Infrastructure (Strategic Policy) 
 
LP25 - Sites in Areas of Flood Risk (Strategic Policy) 
 
LP28 - Affordable Housing Policy (Strategic Policy) 
 
LP31 - Custom and Self-Build Housing (Strategic Policy) 
 
NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN POLICIES 
 
MSJ1 - New Services, Facilities and Employment Opportunities 
 
MSJ2 - Protection of Community Facilities 
 
MSJ3 - Housing Mix 
 
MSJ4 - Affordable Housing 
 
MSJ5 - Design 
 
NATIONAL GUIDANCE  
 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) 
National Design Guide 2021 
 
 
PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS 
 
The main considerations in determining this case are as follows: 
 
Principle of Development: 
 
Paragraph 83 of the NPPF 2024 states that to promote sustainable development in rural areas, 
housing should be located where it will enhance or maintain the vitality of rural communities. 
Planning policies should identify opportunities for villages to grow and thrive, especially where 
this will support local services. Where there are groups of smaller settlements, development 
in one village may support services in a village nearby. 
 
The application is identified as 'self-build' dwellings and paragraph 73(b) of the NPPF 2024 
seeks opportunities to support small sites to come forward for self-build and custom build 
housing. Local Plan Policy LP31 supports self-build housebuilding where it respects local 
character and complies with other relevant policies of the plan. 
 

48



Planning Committee 
1 December 2025 

25/00060/O 

 

The Borough Council also has a legal duty to give suitable development permission to provide 
enough serviced plots of land to meet the demand for self-build and custom housebuilding in 
its area. At the current time the Council is experiencing some difficulty in demonstrating that it 
has met the need for Custom and Self-Build due to a change in legislation, however this does 
not mean that planning permission should automatically be granted - it is just one of a range 
of material considerations in assessing a planning application. 
 
Marshland St James is classified as being in Tier 5 (Rural Village) under Policy LP01 of the 
adopted Local Plan (2021-2040). Under Policy LP02 (Residential Development on Windfall 
Sites), residential development will not normally be supported outside the development 
boundaries unless allocated through the Local Plan or Neighbourhood Plan. The site is not an 
allocated site in the Local Plan and Marshland St James has most recently adopted its 
Neighbourhood Plan and once again this site is not allocated.  
 
Within Tier 5 settlements there is an identified housing requirement (within Appendix 1 of 
Policy LP03) for which there are no opportunities within the development boundary that are 
not allocated, or the relevant Neighbourhood Plan does not address these through allocations. 
In such circumstances, small-scale development of up to five houses, will be supported as is 
necessary to meet that housing requirement and subject to criteria under Parts 1 and 2 of 
Policy LP02. 
 
Marshland St James has an allocation of 4 dwellings under Policy G57.2 on land adjacent to 
145 Smeeth Road. There is however an identified minimum need of 3 additional dwellings 
(shown within Appendix 1 and Policy LP03), which could have been addressed by the 
neighbourhood plan, but no allocations have indeed been made. 
 
This application seeks permission for 9no. self-build dwellings, so Policy LP31 also applies: 
 
“Policy LP31 – Custom and Self-Build Housing  
1. Proposals for self-build and custom housebuilding will be supported where they respect 
local character and comply with other relevant policies in the plan… 
2. The delivery of plots for custom and self-build housing will be secured by a planning 
condition or S106 agreement.” 
 
Three further sites have recently been granted permission for CSB housing in the village – 
Outline for 4no. plots between 70-80 Smeeth Road (25/00412/O), 1no. house NE of 100 
Smeeth Road (25/00833/F and outline for 1no. dwelling adjacent to 80 Smeeth Road 
(25/01158/O).  
 
So, in terms of numbers, the three-unit shortfall as identified in Appendix 1 has effectively 
been met. 
 
The Neighbourhood Plan has chosen to not allocate any sites for residential development. 
Under Policy LP02 for windfall sites there is a limit of up to 5no. dwellings, so there is an 
overprovision on this site of 4 dwellings (albeit 1no affordable). 
 
Being for CSB housing, any proposal would also need to comply with parts 1 and 2 of Policy 
LP31 above; the former relates to respecting the local character.  
 
The proposal lies partially within and also adjoining the development boundary. The Parish 
Council however oppose the development as it is ‘back-fill’ or development in depth and would 
not respect or enhance local character (this is covered in more detail later in this report). This 
stance is cemented in the newly adopted Neighbourhood Plan. The weight previously attached 

49



Planning Committee 
1 December 2025 

25/00060/O 

 

by officers to the benefits of additional CSB units to meet borough-wide need has now 
diminished by virtue of the new NP policy.  
 
The proposal therefore fails to comply with Local Plan Policy LP02. 
 
Form and Character: 
 
The planning use of the site is agricultural land with additional fields to the NE and NW but 
housing to the other two sides – fronting Smeeth Road and Walton Road.  
 
Marshland St James is predominantly characterised by linear frontage development 
centralised around the Hickathrift crossroad junction. The NP at Section 9: Design identifies 
character areas of the village (Figure 18) and Design Guidance and Codes produced. This 
site falls within CA3 – Edge of settlement and paragraph 77 states: 
 
“77. There are two linear stretches along the Smeeth Road Character Area (CA1) which future 
development in CA3 should follow regarding linear development patterns.” 
 
MSJ5: Design also states: 
 
“A. All new development within CA1 and CA3 should preserve the linear development pattern 
of the current settlement, backland or estate development will not normally be acceptable…” 
 
There is an argument presented by the agent that there are examples of development in depth 
in the locality – e.g. Hickathrift Field, Carter’s Field Way and old station yard, so the 
development of this site behind frontage development would not harm the character and 
appearance of the surrounding area. However, the NP is the most up-to-date planning policy 
and given significant weight.  
 
The proposal therefore fails to comply with Policy MSJ5: Design of the NP and Local Plan 
Policies LP02, LP18 and LP21.   
 
Impact on Neighbours:  
 
Given the outline nature of the application, it is not possible to consider neighbour impacts in 
any great detail. However, it is considered that issues such as overlooking, overbearing and 
overshadowing could be suitably designed out at the reserved matters stage. There is 
adequate separation distance from adjacent dwellings adjoining the access road so as to not 
create significant amenity issues in accordance with Policy LP21 of the Local Plan. 
 
Highways Impacts:  
 
The application includes details of the access to be formed off Walton Road and the 
layout/configuration of the private driveway serving the dwellings. 
 
The Local Highway Authority raises no objection to the proposal subject to certain conditions 
regarding implementation of the access in accordance with the submitted plan and driveway 
completed prior to occupation of any dwelling.   
 
The application therefore could accord with the provisions of the NPPF and Policies LP13 & 
LP21 of the Local Plan. 
 
 
 

50



Planning Committee 
1 December 2025 

25/00060/O 

 

Affordable housing: 
 
The site area and number of dwellings proposed trigger the thresholds of Policy LP28 
Affordable Housing of the Council’s Local Plan. 
 
At present a 20% provision is required on sites capable of accommodating 5 or more dwellings 
and/or 0.165ha in Marshland St James. The affordable housing provision is split into 70% of 
the affordable homes being made available for rent and 30% low-cost home ownership, 
including Shared Ownership, First Homes or any other intermediate product that meets the 
intermediate definition within NPPF, meets an identified need in the Borough and is agreed by 
the Council. 
 
However, the NPPF states that affordable housing should not be sought on developments of 
fewer than 10 dwellings and/or 0.5ha other than in designated rural areas. On sites on 6-9 
dwellings and less than 0.5ha, a financial contribution based on £71,000 per equivalent whole 
affordable dwelling will be sought. 
 
In this instance as the site area (0.96ha) exceeds 0.5ha and 9 units are proposed, one built 
unit for rent and commuted sum of £56,800 towards off-site provision is required. 
 
The applicants have committed to enter into a planning obligation to cover the above 
affordable housing contribution which is currently in preparation. This could therefore comply 
with Policy LP28 of the Local Plan.  
 
Ecology: 
 
The application includes an Ecological Impact Assessment produced by Glaven Ecology 
dated November 2024. This concludes that the proposed development would not pose a 
significant risk to protected species or habitats, however certain mitigation measures are 
suggested to further minimise any residual risk plus enhancements. 
 
These conclusions and measures are agreed by our Senior Ecologist and may be secured via 
condition – including a LEMP and Ecological Design Strategy. 
 
The application is also accompanied by a sHRA which has been adopted by the Council and 
concludes no significant harm/impact upon designated sites of conservation, beyond that from 
additional recreational pressure in combination with other housing development, which could 
be negated by a GIRAMS payment (currently £304.17 per dwelling).  
 
This payment could have been secured as part of the Section 106 agreement, so the proposal 
could therefore comply with Policy LP23 of the Local Plan. 
 
The proposal is for Custom & Self-Build dwellings, so it is exempt from Biodiversity Net Gain 
requirements. 
 
Flood risk issues: 
 
The application site is located within Flood Zones 2 & 3 of EA’s mapping (2025). A Flood Risk 
Assessment was submitted with the application. The Environment Agency has no objection to 
the proposal, subject to mitigation measures being secured via condition (FFLs raised by 
300mm above ground level and 300mm of resilient construction above FFLs). 
It is for the LPA to steer development to areas at least risk of flooding in accordance with the 
sequential test (Paragraph 174 of the NPPF) and Local Plan Policy LP25.  
 

51



Planning Committee 
1 December 2025 

25/00060/O 

 

There are no other sites available for residential development of an equivalent scale within 
Marshland St James in a lower risk of flooding and therefore this proposal passes the 
sequential test. 
 
The exception test also has to be applied as prescribed by Paragraph 178 of the NPPF and 
both parts must be passed. The mitigation measures suggested in the FRA indicates that the 
development could be made safe for its lifetime without increasing flood risk elsewhere.  
 
Had the principle of the development been acceptable, this is would have been considered to 
be sustainable development given the borough-wide need for self-build housing identified 
above that would outweigh the flood risk implications. However, now given the conflict with 
the NP, the wider sustainability benefits to the community would not outweigh flood risk, so 
both parts of the exception test cannot be met. 
 
The proposal therefore fails to comply with paragraph 179 of the NPPF 2024 and Local Plan 
Policy LP25. 
 
Drainage: 
 
The means of foul water disposal would be to the existing mains sewer. Whilst certain details 
of the connection/methodology have been forwarded to Anglian Water, concerns were raised 
regarding upstream capacity, but recent correspondence indicates that West Walton WRC is 
within acceptance parameters and can accommodate the flows from the proposed 
development.  
 
This could however be secured as a pre-commencement and occupation condition consistent 
with a recent infill approval on Smeeth Road. 
Surface water is to be disposed of using soakaways and potential into the drainage ditches 
adjoining the site. This would require consent from the IDB under separate legislation. 
 
The proposal is capable of complying with Local Plan Policy LP21. 
 
Specific comments: 
 
The comments received from the Parish Council have been taken into consideration as part 
of this application. Obviously, the adoption of the Local Plan in the interim means that some 
of the policy references have been updated however their inference have been considered. 
 
 
PLANNING BALANCE/CONCLUSION: 
 
This is a finely balanced case; in its favour the proposal would provide CSB housing plots for 
which there is a borough-wide shortfall, plus an affordable dwelling and off-site contribution. It 
is situated within easy walking distance from the facilities that the village offers (school, 
community centre and church). There are other examples of development in depth around the 
recognised centre of the village at the Hickathrift crossroad junction and consolidating the built 
form would take pressure off extending linear development elsewhere. All other technical 
matters may be secured via condition. 
 
Conversely the proposal is contrary to the provisions of the most recently adopted 
Neighbourhood Plan which discourages development in depth and would be out of character 
and contrary to Policy MSJ5: Design of the Neighbourhood Plan. The number of dwellings 
exceeds the limit of 5no. that is identified in windfall policy for a Rural Village. 
 

52



Planning Committee 
1 December 2025 

25/00060/O 

 

Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 provides that an application 
must be determined in accordance with the development plan unless material considerations 
indicate otherwise. This now constitutes the Local Plan and the Neighbourhood Plan – the 
latter of which is the most up-to-date planning policy. 
 
Overall, the proposal is not considered to be acceptable and would fail to accord with Policy 
MSJ5 of the Marshland St James Neighbourhood Plan (2022-2038), Policies LP02, LP18, 
LP21, LP25 & LP31 and the provisions of the NPPF 2024. It is duly recommended for refusal. 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
 
REFUSE for the following reason(s): 
 
 1 By virtue of the proposal comprising development in depth and the number of dwellings 

exceeding 5no. the development fails to accord with Policies LP02 and LP31 of the Local 
Plan (2021-2040) plus Policy MSJ5: Design of the Marshland St James Neighbourhood 
Plan (2022-2038) and the weight afforded to the provision of Custom/Self-Build plots 
does not outweigh the in principle objection. 

 
 2 The application site lies within Flood Zones 2 & 3 of the Environment Agency mapping 

and requires exception testing. Given the conflict with the provisions of the Marshland 
St James Neighbourhood Plan, this proposal does not provide wider sustainability 
benefits to the community that outweigh flood risk, so both parts of the exception test 
cannot be met. 
 
The proposal therefore fails to comply with paragraph 179 of the NPPF 2024 and Policy 
LP25 of the Local Plan (2021-2040). 

 
 

53



Planning Committee  -  1 December 2025

03/11/2025

APPLICATIONS DETERMINED UNDER DELEGATED POWERS 01/12/2025

PURPOSE OF REPORT

RECOMMENDATION

That the reports be noted

Number of decisions issued between 21 October 2025 and 17 November 2025.

Approved Refused

Major 8 7 1 7 87.5% 60% 1 0

Minor 36 32 4 30 83.3% 80% 2 0

Other 57 52 5 55 96.5% 80% 2 0

Total 101 91 10 85 7 5 0

Planning Committee made 5 of the 101 decisions (5.%)

Previous Committee:

Upcoming Committee:

ApprovedTotal

(1) To inform Members of the number of decisions issued between the production of the 3 November 2025 Planning Committee Agenda and the 1 

December 2025 agenda. There were 101 total decisions issued with 96 issued under delegated powers and 5 decided by the Planning Committee.

(2) To inform Members of those applications which have been determined under the officer delegation scheme since your last meeting. These decisions 

are made in accordance with the Authority's powers contained in the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and have no financial implications.

(3) This report does not include the following applications - Prior Notifications, Discharge of Conditions, Pre Applications, County Matters, TPO and 

Works to Trees in a Conservation Area.

(4) Major applications are assessed against a national target of 60%. Failure to meet this target could result in applications being dealt with by Pins who 

will also receive any associated planning fee.

Planning Committee 

DecisionNational 

Target
Performance %

Under 13 

Weeks
Under 8 WeeksRefused

54

A
genda Item

 10



 
 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

DATE 1st December 2025  
 
UPDATE ON TREE MATTERS 

 
Prepared by Brian Ogden, Arboricultural Officer 

 
 
1.0 Introduction 
 
1.1 This report seeks to update Members on recent Tree Preservation Orders 

(TPO’s) that have been served since June 2025, along with a summary on 
some of the other aspects of the work in relation to trees in the last 6 months.  

 
2.0 Summary of Work 
 
2.1 Set out in table 1 is a breakdown of the numbers of the various types of 

applications or work types carried out during the period.  
 
2.2 Members will be aware that there are two types of tree work applications.  
 
2.3 Notifications for work to trees in a Conservation Area have to be responded to 

within 6 weeks, if responses are not received within these timescales the work 
is deemed to be acceptable and can be carried out. 

 
2.4 Works to trees protected by a Tree Preservation Order (TPO), when the target 

date is 8 weeks.  
 
2.5 Five days written notice is required where protected trees that have died or 

need to be felled due to their very poor condition. These are also recorded as 
applications under the suffix TDD. Replacement trees can then be enforced if 
suitable.  

 
2.6 Tree and Landscape related consultations to planning applications have a 

target date for response of between 8 or 13 weeks to ensure applications can 
be dealt with within the requisite time period.  

 
2.7 There is also a requirement to respond to discharge of planning conditions with 

a specified time period, so as not to unnecessarily delay commencement of 
approved development. 

 
2.8 Although not time specific, the serving of a new TPO is often a matter of 

urgency in order to prevent the trees being felled or inappropriate pruning taking 
place.  Once served there are time limits for objections to be received, and 
responses to be sent and the matter placed before the Planning Committee.  If 
this is not all completed within 6 months of the serving then the protection given 
to the trees by the TPO lapses, and the only way to protect the trees is to begin 
the process again.  

55

Agenda Item 11



 
2.9 Of equal importance are the pre-application appointments and meetings both 

for tree work applications and planning applications, as well as responses to 
the general day to day tree related enquiries by members of the public. Trees 
are very high profile and members of the public and many local organisations 
look to the Council to provide help and guidance on tree matters. Officers 
always seek to use these enquiries as an opportunity for the promotion of good 
tree care and support for internal and external stakeholders and interest 
groups.  

 
 Table 1 – Breakdown of tree related applications and work received between 

01/05/2025 and 31/10/2025. 
 
  

 Numbers 

Planning Applications  

Planning Applications considered 118 
 

Pre-Applications considered 
 

27 

Applications to discharge tree and landscape 
conditions 

30 

 
New Tree Preservation Orders 
 

 

New TPO’s - Date Served  
 

9 

TPO’s confirmed without objection, or 
objections withdrawn 
 

6 

TPO’s with objections received confirmed by 
Planning Committee 
 

0 

TPO’s with objections yet to be confirmed or 
not confirmed  
 

1 

Tree Work Applications/Notifications 
 

 

Conservation Area Notifications approved 
 

135 

Conservation Area Notification Refused (TPO 
Served)  
 

1 

Conservation Area Notification Pending  
 

13 

Tree Preservation Order applications approved
  

79 

Tree Preservation Order applications 
Refused 

5 
 

56



Tree Preservation Order applications partially 
refused 
 

3 
 

Tree Preservation Order applications appealed 
 

0 

Tree Preservation Order application pending 
 

7 

 
 
3.0 Details of TPO’s Served and Confirmed since May 1st 2025 
 
3.1 9 TPO’s have been served since 1st May 2025.  Where no objections have been 

received, they have been confirmed under delegated powers. When objections 
have been received these will need to be considered by the Planning 
Committee, as to whether the TPO is confirmed.  

 
3.2 Since 1st May 2025,  TPOs have been confirmed under delegated powers with 

none confirmed at Planning Committee. 
 
3.3 There have been no appeals relating to decisions regarding works to protected 

trees, and we currently have no appeals in process. 
 

 
4.0 Recommendation  
 
4.1 That members of the Planning Committee note the contents of the report

57



 

58


	Agenda
	2 Minutes from the previous meeting
	Minutes

	3 Declarations of Interest
	8 Index of applications
	9 Decision on applications
	25.01520.F Map 2
	25.01520.F
	25.00060.O Map 1
	25.00060.O Map 2
	25.00060.O

	10 Delegated Decisions
	11 Update on Tree Matters

